FIRE INSURANCE FOR KANSAS SCHOOL PROPERTY

by

HOWARD DEWIGHT SMETHERS

B. S., Kansas State Teachers College of Emporia, 1927

A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the

19819

requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

KANSAS STATE COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE AND APPLIED SCIENCE

Spec Coll LD 2668 T4 1935 S61

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	2
PURPOSE	2
GENERAL METHOD	3
THE THEORY OF INSURANCE	4
INSURANCE PROCEDURE	9
INSURANCE TERMS	14
DETERMINATION OF FIRE INSURANCE RATES	20
SELF INSURANCE	26
FIRE LOSSES IN KANSAS	36
STATUS OF FIRE INSURANCE OF KANSAS SCHOOL PROPERTY	51
SUMMARY	63
RECOMMENDATIONS	67
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	69
LITERATURE CITED	70

INTRODUCTION

The problem of providing public education for the children of Kansas has caused a large amount of money to be invested in buildings and equipment. The adequate care and protection of this property is a very important matter to all people.

In a period of economic difficulty schools have been forced to operate on reduced budgets. All items have been considered with ideas of possible reduction in mind. Because of the cost of insurance and the infrequency of fires among school buildings it was thought practicable to make a study of the facts about fire insurance protection for school property in Kansas. To insure school property economically involves many elements which justify a study of the management of this phase of school finance.

PURPOSE

The fire insurance for school property has been a commercial enterprise handled by the local school authorities.

Insurance is not usually well understood by the average individual, therefore, the purpose of this study is to present a picture of the pertinent facts concerning fire protection of our school buildings and contents. It is hoped

the study of this problem will be of value to educators, taxpayers, and those concerned generally with the problem of school finance.

It is hoped to point out proper insurance procedure and methods that will best serve the public needs, and to suggest the means of achieving adequate protection with the greatest possible economy. It is believed this study should arouse the interest of school officials in the state regarding a subject of great importance to our school systems.

An attempt is made in the study to discover the answer to two important questions, namely:

1. Are schools of Kansas paying rates that are justifiable, neither too high nor too low, and are they in line with rates paid by other classes of property?

2. What methods are possible for bringing about an improvement of inadequate methods for insuring school property and for obtaining as favorable rates as possible?

GENERAL METHOD

Material for this study was obtained from questionnaires sent to all the 88 first and second class cities in Kansas, from records and reports of the Kansas state offices in Topeka, and various contacts with men working with some phase of fire insurance. The supplemental material came through articles of recent study and from writers considered

authorities in the field of fire insurance. The questionnaire used to gather data for this study is shown on the following page.

THE THEORY OF INSURANCE

The fundamental factor of insurance for school properties is the same as in business, that is, complete and adequate protection at the lowest possible cost. In order to approach the subject of school fire insurance in an understandable manner it is necessary to understand a number of fire insurance theories and practices.

Insurance is set up to eliminate the uncertainty for the individual. It does not eliminate risk but distributes the losses among many.

Even though the chance of total loss is small, an individual cannot afford to run the risk of losing his capital investment when it is possible to pay a small sum to prevent this loss. It is possible to predict within fairly accurate limits, from experiences with fires and from the law of averages, how many houses will be destroyed by fire in a year. Thus, by combining a number of risks, the uncertainty present in the case of one building is changed to relative certainty in a large number of cases.

HADDAM, KANSAS February 26, 1935

Dear Superintendent:

I know how distasteful questionnaires are. I know that when they are to serve the personal interest of some single individual, one's objection is doubly justified. I believe the outcome of this questionnaire, however, should be of as much concern to you as it could possibly be to me. Therefore, will you give it your kind consideration?

Recently in an informal study it has been discovered that during the : last ten years the Boards of Education of 44 first and second class cities paid \$998,000 in premiums to fire insurance companies and that they received a total of only \$367,000 as indemnity. This raises the question, "Are we not paying rates altogether too high?"

In an effort to obtain an answer to this question you are requested to supply as much of the information called for **on** the blank as you have available.

If you care for a copy of the results, please indicate your desire.

Sincerely yours,

Howard D. Smethers.

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Rate per \$100 for
	Premiums	Indemnity	(for 1933-34 only)
102	para	recerved	(101 1000 01 1000 /
192	<u>+</u> -25 5-26		
192	6-27		
102	7-28		
102	9.20		
192	9_30		
193	0-31	······································	
193	1-32		
193	2-33		
193	53-34		
,	And your policies of the	Co-insurance type?	What percentage?
2.	Is all your property cove each building?	ered on one form or is	there a separate form for
3.	What is the most recent of	late when your propert	y was appraised?
4.	What is the term of your	policies?	4
5.	Do all premiums for the e year? Or do y year? For in: do you pay the premium on during each of the five	entire amount of insur you have approximately stance, if you have \$1 h \$100,000 once each \$	ance come due during the same an equal amount fall due each .00,000 and your term is 5 years, b years or do you pay one-fifth

CT

The underwriter, by combining a sufficiently large number of buildings, is able to assume the risk of each individual and thereby he substitutes for the uncertainty of loss by the individual the certainty of large numbers. For this the insured pays a fixed sum and is indemnified for any loss that he may suffer. Anything that decreases uncertainty has economic value to society as a whole. To diminish the degree of uncertainty reduces the cost of risk to everyone. As this is true the accumulation to meet the uncertain loss is brought nearer to the probable loss as estimated by the law of averages, which makes insurance a benefit to society.

The application of the law of averages requires the combination of a large number of risks of similar hazards scattered over a wide territory. Consequently a company usually limits the amount of insurance it will carry in a certain section.

Therefore, insurance may be defined as that social device for making accumulations to meet uncertain losses of capital, which is carried out through sharing of the risks of one person with many individuals. A factor which is common to all forms of insurance is the substitution of large and uncertain losses for a small but certain payment (8).

There are two important types of companies offering

insurance against loss by fire, mutual and stock companies. The mutual fire insurance companies differ from stock companies in that in them the insured enters into the business of insurance, shares in the profits of the enterprise, and helps to make good the losses, if there are any. The results of insurance in either of these types of companies are practically the same since the insured in both cases is relieved of the risk of loss by fire upon payment of a sum of money. The stock companies have for their purpose the making of a profit, while the purpose of the mutual companies is protection at the lowest cost.

A stock company is a corporation which determines the probability of loss by fire in a large number of buildings for a certain period of time, and from this a certain rate is fixed called a premium, in return for the payment of which it agrees to indemnify the owner in case of loss by fire. The insured upon payment of the premium is relieved of all risk.

A mutual company is made up of a number of individuals or groups of individuals who have combined for the purpose of mutual protection in case of loss by fire on the part of any one of them. The entire group contracts to reimburse any member of the group for any loss by fire on property that he has insured. Each person insured enters into the insurance business and in return agrees to pay his pro-rata

share of losses that others of the group may suffer. Theoretically, the amount that a person may be called upon to pay is not a fixed sum, but varies in proportion to the fire losses which occur within the group. However, in actual practice, the premium paid in mutual companies is practically a fixed sum as it is in the case of stock companies. The insured shares in the profits as dividends or he may be assessed to make good any excessive loss that occurs.

In general much criticism of the mutual type of companies has been because in addition to the premium payment the insured is liable for additional assessments in case of excessive loss which may be several times the annual pre-However, A. V. Gruhn, General Manager of the American mium. Mutual Alliance, is authority for the statement that no mutual company with a surplus of \$200,000 or more has ever levied an assessment (2). Furthermore, according to Best's Insurance Guide for 1930 (5) there are 39 mutual companies writing non-assessable contracts that exempt members from contingent liability. There is no sound reason why school insurance should not be carried with selected mutual companies since insurance may be placed with mutual companies at a lower cost than that charged by stock companies. One Kansas mutual insurance company with an A+ rating offers to the schools a non-assessment policy at a 10 per cent reduc-

tion in premiums.

INSURANCE PROCEDURE

The first consideration in the purchase of insurance should be the reliability of the company from which it is proposed to purchase the insurance. There were 256 stock companies and 147 mutual companies that failed during the period of 1920 to 1931 (5, p. 14).

The National Association of Public School Business Officials (5, p. 14) recommends the standard employed by the Prudential Life Insurance Company and the Mutual Benefit Life Insurance Company for a check on fire insurance companies. These requirements are listed as follows:

1. The loss paying record and the character of the management of the company must be rated A-1 in Best's Insurance Guide.

2. The company writes all business at Official Board rates.

3. The company must be licensed in and its business must be spread over at least 10 states.

4. The company must have been in continuous operation for a period of at least 15 years.

5. The ratio of losses paid to premiums received during the preceding 5 years must not have exceeded 40 per cent.

6. The ratio of expenses paid to premiums received

during the preceding 5 years must not have exceeded 30 per cent.

7. The company must set up the same reserve for unearned premiums and losses as required by the full legal reserve statute, which represents in effect 100 per cent of the unearned premium.

8. The assets must be at least \$3,000,000 and its surplus not less than \$800,000.

All insurance companies should be selected upon their merits to meet the standards set up in the foregoing list.

The usual procedure, however, does not consider the company alone, but the insurance carried may be divided among the local agents in a variety of ways among which are according to:

1. The companies represented.

2. The length of time the agent has been in business.

3. The volume of business written.

4. Whether insurance is a side line or the agent's business.

5. The quality and kind of service rendered to the board of education.

6. Personal friendships.

After the company and the agent have been selected they should offer assistance in whatever ways are possible, beginning with using the building rating sheet from the Kansas Rating Bureau for making a careful analysis to determine how the rates should have been calculated. These will show the basic rate and what additional charges if any have been made. It may then be economical to remove causes of the charges and thus lower the rates. The removal of the causes of the charges not only lowers the premium rate but is an added safety for the property due to the removal of a source of fire.

When all the physical alterations have been made and a notice sent to the rating bureau they will make a new survey of the school and from this the new rate will be set.

When the rate has finally been determined the next step is to determine the value of the property to be insured. This may be done in at least three ways:

 The value of property may be estimated by real estate men or a contractor. This represents merely a matter of judgement.

2. The value may be determined by a recognized appraisal firm. This is perhaps the most accurate procedure.

3. The value may be determined by an established fire insurance company.

It is found that in practice school property values are determined in many other ways when it comes to insurance. In many cases records show no values, some show estimated value, replacement value, cost, and appraisal value. In a

study of appraisals the following methods were found to be used in 65 cities; 27 determined the value for insurance by replacement cost less depreciation, 12 determined their values by appraisal at irregular intervals, 7 had their buildings appraised each year, 4 used the original cost as the value, 8 used original cost with annual depreciation, and 7 used book value annually depreciated (5, p. 157).

With the true value of property determined and the rate set the type of policy best adapted to the situation must be selected. Various forms may be used and are described in a previous section of this study. Policies are written on flat or coinsurance rates. It is now generally understood that in most cases coinsurance is preferred because of the decided saving in premium costs. However, in some states only fire resistive school buildings may be insured under coinsurance rates.

The insurance may be written for a one-year, two-year, three-year, four-year, or five-year term. However, the long term (five-year) is usually preferred because the premium is proportionately less, being only four times that for the one-year term. It would seem a good practice to have one-fifth of the appropriation for insurance come due each year in place of the entire amount appearing in the budget only once in five years. After the first five years this system may become regular by using these two methods:

1. By writing the entire amount for a five-year period and then cancelling one-fifth of the insurance at the end of the first year and rewriting for a period of five years. This procedure, if followed for four years, will result in having one-fifth of the insurance carried mature each year after the five-year period.

2. The second method is to write one-fifth on a oneyear term, one-fifth on a two-year term, one-fifth on a three-year term, one-fifth on a four-year term, and onefifth on a five-year term. At the end of each year the expired policies should be rewritten for a five-year term. After five years this system will become regular.

In the first method when a policy is cancelled and returned to the same company for a longer period no loss results from the short term.

Inspection of school buildings to locate fire hazards should be made at least twice a year and be a part of all regular insurance practice. Some of the leading insurance companies offer this inspection service free of charge to their patrons or clients.

Every school district should maintain some system of records for all insurance in force, showing at least the type of insurance, amount of coverage, company insuring, name of agent, policy number, date issued, term of policy and premium on the policy, and expiration date.

INSURANCE TERMS

So that those who read this study may understand the terms in the same manner that the writer has used them, the following definitions are given (6; 8; 5, p. 15-16):

Policy. The contract between the insurer and the insured.

Specific policy. The most common policy which is used when each school building is insured separately. It covers only one building and its contents, and shows the exact location and amount of insurance carried. If more than one policy is issued on a building a clause is attached stating that the company is liable only for its pro-rata share of the entire amount carried. This does not hold true if the policy is written with a coinsurance clause.

Valued policy. One which shows the value agreed upon at the time it is issued rather than after a loss has occurred.

<u>Blanket policy</u>. One used by cities having a great number of buildings, and covers two or more risks for a stated amount of insurance, but specifies no amount for individual buildings.

Term of insurance. The length of time for which the policy is written. The usual terms are for one, three, or five years.

Rates. The amount of money paid by the insured for \$100 worth of insurance for a period of one year. Variations are made for different lengths of terms that policies are in force. The standard rates for the different items are:

1	year	*	ful	.l 1	ate	(annua)	L rate	,)
2	years	-	12	ful	l ra	ate		
3	years	-	21	ful	l re	ate		
4	years		31	ful	l ra	ate		
5	years	-	4	ful	1 re	ate		

Short rate. Charged when a policy is written for a term less than a year. A short rate is relatively higher than the ordinary rate. Usually when issued for one month the charge is 20 per cent of the annual rate and increases 10 per cent for the next five months and from the seventh month on it increases 5 per cent for each month.

Term rate. Rate applied to a period longer than one year, and is less than the annual rate.

<u>Specific rate</u>. Rate given a certain piece of property at a definite location and is usually arrived at after the property has been rated according to a schedule.

Flat rate. A rate that does not make any allowance for coinsurance. This rate is used when the property is not insured under the coinsurance plan.

Average rate. One used when one policy is issued for the insurance of several buildings.

<u>Coinsurance</u>. A clause inserted into the contract stating that the insured may have a lower rate by agreeing to insure his property for a certain percentage of its value. The lower rates are based on a percentage of the flat rate.

Eighty per cent of the value of the property is the percentage usually required for coinsurance. However, other percentages may be used but with different deductions from the flat rate. The credits for each percentage may vary and not always remain as given by Smith (6) in Table 1.

Table 1. Deductions from flat rate for various percentages of coinsurance in certain cities in Ohio and per cent that coinsurance rate is of flat rate.

	: .	Per	cent	of coin	surance	
	:	50	60	70	80	90
Deduction from flat rate		40%	48불%	55%	60%	64%
Per cent that coinsurance rate is of flat rate		60	51늘	45	40	36

Thus, a particular property has a value of \$10,000, and if insured on the 80 per cent plan for \$8,000, all losses up to \$8,000 will be paid by the company, but if insured for \$6,000 on the 80 per cent plan the company will pay only 75 per cent of the losses up to \$8,000 since

> amount insured \$6,000 = 75 per cent \$8,000

In Table 2 it is pointed out how the coinsurance clause operates when the owners live up to their part of the agreement, and how they may be penalized when they fail to do so (2).

Coinsurance was established according to Smith (6) so that owners of property might be persuaded to insure for more nearly the full value of the property or else assume part of the loss in case of damage by fire. A very large percentage of the fire losses that occur are only fractional losses. Therefore, property owners could insure for only a small percentage of the value and assume the risk of a large loss. As a result the fire insurance companies were compelled to pay a large number of small losses on property which was insured for only a fractional part of the entire value. This naturally caused the losses to amount to a greater percentage of the insured value than if the building had been insured for its full value.

To prevent the tendency to insure for a small amount the coinsurance clause was introduced. Under this clause the insurer is given the lower rate if he insures for a certain percentage of the value. If he does not insure up to the value required, he becomes a coinsurer with the company for the percentage that the amount carried is lacking of the required percentage.

The following formula may be used to calculate 80 per

Table 2. (peration	of	an	80	per	cent	coinsurance	clause.
------------	----------	----	----	----	-----	------	-------------	---------

Actual cas value of property insured	:Insurance sh:required b :80 per cen :coinsuranc :clause	: y: t:Insurance e:actually :purchased	: : Loss : by : fire	: Amount :paid by :insurance :company	Loss sus- tained by owner	: Remarks
\$100,000	\$80 ,00 0	\$100 ,000	\$100,000 80,000 40,000	\$100,000 80,000 40,000	\$ 0 0 0	All losses paid in full
100,000	80,000	80,000	100,000 80,000 40,000	80,000 80,000 40,000	20,000 0 0	All losses paid in full up to face value of policy
100,000	80,000	50,000	100,000 80,000 40,000	50,000 50,000 25,000	50,000 30,000 15,000	Losses paid in por- portion 5000/80000 but not exceeding face value of policy

cent coinsurance, remembering that the company will never pay more than the face of the policy:

Amount of loss paid = $\frac{\text{Amount insured x amount of loss}}{80 \text{ per cent of insurable value}}$

<u>Appraisal</u>. By appraisal is meant the fixing of the true present value of property. The reproduction value minus depreciation gives the sound value of property. The insurable value of a building is the sound value minus the cost of excavations and foundations.

Loss ratio. A term used by insurance companies to indicate the percentage of earned premium that is paid out in losses during a given year. If the loss ratio of a company is 50 per cent for a year the company has paid out 50 per cent of the premium in that year in payment for losses occurring during the same year.

Insurable interest. A term used to show that the insured is personally interested in the value of the property. He must be running a risk of losing a tangible interest of recognizable value.

Reinsurance. A practice of insurance companies to reduce their liability by insuring a portion of the risk in other companies.

Exclusions. The non-insurable portions of a building, such as excavations, foundations, footing, and architect's fees.

Loading. That portion of premium income allocated by the insurance companies for overhead expense, such as, sales expense, taxes, service departments.

<u>Make-up sheet</u>. The written report of a building, showing size, construction, structural features, specific hazards, and protective devices.

Penalties. Debits added to the basic rate for points of deficiency.

Risk. The insurance term for property insured.

Insured. One who has purchased insurance protection. <u>Replacement value</u>. The cost of a new building according to the same plans and specifications of an old building.

Depreciation. Reduction of value due to physical deterioration, or lack of adaptability to service.

Insurable value. Sound net value minus the exclusion items.

DETERMINATION OF FIRE INSURANCE RATES

There are three ways (8) in which fire insurance rates may be determined: judgment, scheduled, and experienced. Two systems of rating are extensively used in the United States. The Universal Mercantile or Eastern Schedule is used in the North and East. The Analytic or Dean System is used in the central and western states. A scheduled rating is an itemized listing of all the variable conditions and

physical factors that make up fire risks together with a table of charges and credits corresponding to the presence or absence of different degrees of hazards on a given property.

When the Universal Mercantile System is used, the basic rate is secured by setting up a standard building in a standard town. A standard town is one with water works of specified character and efficiency, water main of stated size, efficient fire and police departments. hard surfaced streets of a minimum width, an effective building code, favorable exposures, and a previous five year record not exceeding a \$5 annual fire loss to each \$1,000 of insurance carried. The basic rate is 25 cents per \$100 for a standard building in a standard town and the basic rate of the city is increased for any special hazards. A charge of 32 cents is made for a risk in a town deficient in water supply, fire engines, fire alarm, telegraph, police, etc. For certain superior qualities a deduction is made for basic rates. After the city has been rated, more than one hundred features of construction in a single building help to determine the rate, such as, walls, area, floors, windows, roofs, chimneys, stairs, and heating and lighting systems. Occupancy charges are measured in terms of damageability, ignitibility, and combustibility.

A building is also charged or credited for exposure.

Charges are made for hazards; credits are given for hydrants located near a corner building, fire escapes, etc.

The second system, the Analytic or Dean, groups all risks into classes as to general character of construction. There are three classes:

Class A -- Fire resistive

Class B -- Brick or stone

Class C -- Wood or other material

All cities and towns are divided into 10 classes according to their general fire hazards. The lower class starts with a one story brick building of ordinary construction and 1,000 square feet in area in a town with the poorest conditions of fire protection.

Rates and Rate Making

A board of education should make a careful selection of its agents in order that it may be assured the service to which each local community is entitled. Each agent should feel that it is his personal responsibility to render the best of service to the insured.

The idea that rates are set by the state and nothing can be done about the matter is very illusive and misleading. After all the methods of scheduling rates are only a matter of judgment and no two may be judged the same.

In arriving at these rates a survey is made of the building and the physical conditions. The conditions used are those present at the time of the survey regardless of whether they are permanent or temporary conditions. When buildings are rated, everything is taken not as it should be but as it actually is found at that time. A great many fire hazards are due to poor management. Many small items tend to increase the rate such as broken plaster, absence of metal under stoves, gas and coal oil stoves poorly arranged, stovepipes, faulty flues, electrical wiring, steam pipes, combustible material laying around, boxes, rubbish, crowded condition of merchandise, cracked wall paper, gasoline, paint cans, etc.

Two types of surveys are used, one for fireproof construction and another for the ordinary construction. The following forms will indicate in detail how building surveys for fire insurance rates are made.

Rating bureaus are compelled by law to furnish the owner or a legally authorized representative with these rates and a copy of the survey made in the specific rating of said property (6).

in the second second	SURVEY		
Own	Survey No.		
nspected by	Map: VolPageLotI	Block	
)wner	No Stree	t Avenu	-Addition
NEWODANDA		la la	
lass of Town:	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Dasis:} \\ \text{Height:} \\ \text{Height:} \\ \text{Stories} \\ \text{ft to eaves with without has sub-has} \\ \end{array}$	Percentage	
t'l Board Old	Area:forfoors/10 for Div. Walls		
ot. at rísk classes as i	Walls: If other than brick, charge		
t'l BoardOld	RightSup., Non-sup., Indp., Party		- 12
ccupancy:	LettSup., Non-sup., Indp., Party		5 3
Light, Ordinary.	RearSup., Non-sup., Indp., Party		
ea details:	Masonry piers carry part, all of load Right, Left, Front, Rear		PRONT
the second and	Party wall charges RightLeftRear	F	FF
	Unpro. metal columns, beams, front, right, left, rear, 1st, 2d, 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th. Wall on such stories		
in the second second	HCB. HT, hollow block wall, right, left, front, rear: story		
	D, Skel. IC, BV wall, or mansard, right, left, front, rear: story		
alle (if other than	Parapets:Rightthickhigh, Adj. bldg. higher lowerstoriesfeet		
rick): stone, reinf. concr.,	Lefthigh, Adj. bldg. higher lowerstoriesfeet		
el. steel, hollow block,	Addition with D Sk IC BV HCB HT walls stories		
CB, HT, partly HT,	Foundation: Wood, masonry piers, not enclosed, under addition. Filled ground		
ced within. brick.	Roof: Metal, composition, approved, not appr., gravel, Sk. IC, Skeleton steel, tile, slate, asbestos		
and the second second	compo. wood shingle: Mansard surfaced with		
and the providence of the	Ceilings-Walls: Wood, cloth, paper, plaster boardB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5B		
	Light shafts, enclosed courts, not covered		
	Floor Openings: Grade of floors	()	f credite ar
	Opening SB-B B-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 5-6 Describe enclosure (if any) below.	1:	llowable otal here
and a second	Stairways	1	educt here
	Elevatore	1	otal
ESTAD PART	Chutes		
	Dumb Waiters		
	Well Holes		
	Courts		
and the state	Belt Holes, pr		
	To roof space		
	Charges or Credits (Circle credits)		
	Partitions between occ., Bas., 1st. Metal wood lath and plaster. Decks: Note under Occupancy		
	Stovenines: Thru floor party roof window side ceil to attic bot of chy No. Clear in		
And the second	Heat: Steam, hot water, hot air, outside, gas, stoves, kerosene, fuel oil, portable, none		
and the second second second	Light: Electricity, gas, gasolene, acetylene, kerosene lamps, lanterns, none		
	Exterior Attachments: D, Sk., IC, BV, stairs, open, boxed, cornice, not cut off, not continuous, bay		
	windows, porches, awnings, small sheds, monitor, root houses, without floor, bridges, covered		
	Occupancy: Total Col. 1 and highest of Col. 2 charges brought forward		
	Total Percentage Charges Extended		
ire Doors, Shutters, etc.	CREDITS-Structural:		
	Superior construction (describe fully in margin):floors,openings%		
	decks = FP Addn %		1
	Open finish		
	Incombustible floor 1st, 2d (describe)		
	Structural credits added and extended		
	CREDITS-Protective:		
	Standpipe, sizeinft. ofin. hose each floor and bas		3
	Fire escapes (outside), landings each floor		
	Automatic, Manual alarm system, not approved. Name combination watch stations		
	Chemical ext. 2 ¹ / ₂ gal., tetrachlorid, not labeledauto. sprinklers		
	Watchman, clock, namecentral station combination boxes, separate manual boxes		and the second
	No. of stationsRounds		1 minute
	Heat from outside. No heat		- 7
		and the second sec	

- State of the		- 24 and 1 and 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -		largesr	nall				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				ft						
		and the second		larges	nall		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1				ft.					-	the star
			Falling Wall D	Wall: N	0		stories	higher.		-% of									100
Se Mili	1	en provinsi se	Direction	Final Rate	Net Rate	Ratio	Charge	Distan	ce N	let	INC	CREAS	SE OR	REDL	ICTION			222	
Constanting of the			or Map No.		i data										1			-	1. 1991
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •							_ft.		10	or							
		and a state to a first	Commu	nications	: No-	C		to D1	,	% c	f		=		+	- /5 =	=	-	
		and the second sec	No	C	to	D,-		-% of		-=	+		- /5=-						
			NO	С	TES H	D,-		-% of	Rub	-=	+		- /5 =-	Flec	iror		ithou		
		23	pilot lig	ht. Stov	vepipe c	learance.	ves on	wu. 11			ge	as 11				15 W		_	sills
		and the second	Light:	Swg. gas	jets. Co	ord wirin	g, N. S	5. ptbl.	cords	-hung	on na	ails,	pipes,	etc.	Tro	1. cu	ır		
		((x,y)) = (x,y) + ((x,y)) + ((x,y)	Power:	Rubber	gas ba	g unenc	l. Ext	aust p	ipe, p	ot, cle	arance-								
	1	n an	Miscella	incous: S	moking	g not for	bidden,	no sig	gns po	osted.	No wa	ste vd 1	cans,	not	std.	No fl.	Wast	e	
		a ser a s	paper n	ot baled.	Wd. o	cuspidors	, sawd	ust fill	ed. Bi	oken 1	plaster.	Flu	e hole	es n	ot cl	osed	, with	n	
	-	Building Contents	rags, pa	per. Un	screene	d areas t	o bas.	wds. I	Rubbis	sh	<u></u>	Sp	ecia1	taxe	es				
Cerm			and the second				an a	and a start	- 3.7.5	ali na si Na sasara									
Coinsura	nce		Railway	v Waive	r	%				- ng 1 j. ***					D. 1.1			-	Ì
Old Rate			Reducti	on of Ex	rposure	to Cont	s. (Not	W. D	. or C	omm.)	: 10tai	Ex	p		Build	ling	·		
Fornado		and the second sec	less 2	0c=	X	% (N	emi-Re	mov)=		-+20c	_				Rate				
Street			1035 2			ds age		PANCY C	HARGES	Electric de la companya de la compan	Conts.	Unex	coosed	EX	POSUF	RES	Alter	Pr	ablish
Number	Floor	000	UPANCY		er i en daren.	Aver Han	1	2	D	Floor	Charges	Bldg	. Rate	Ord Co	and mm.	¥2 W.D.	Chgs.	Co	Rate
		The second se	and a second second			•													
		and a second as a second						-											
	-		••••																
	-										*								
				1997 - 1997 National International Internationa International International Internation															
		and have the	and the second	··· · ···															
	074	and the second			are inte	54.0	and the	loon .	NYSER										
	1							10											
	5								1.1										
		arrent in the Call	3		1.240			d de t		and the second									
											5- 20-2								
											1.1.2					*			
		The second se	•••••					-					2000		1.5.1		10		
		and a second	•••••				- 2 al-	1.441		Contraction of the second				1.5					
								1 5						-					
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							e tarda.			Ser. S	See C.	10					
						21 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			0.00										
				0121012										1					
				and there a			.:												
							1.0.2												
	-				iona n' Alla	10.10	158 20	1. 18 J	1.4	1000									
							1			E and a second									
8		and seed tother story	an da Xali i	Winger de	209 and		Jane L.			0.0.1									
	200								A COLORADO AND A COLORADO ANDO AND A COLORADO AND A COLORADO AND A COLORADO AND A COLORADO AND A	1		In		11		A CONTRACTOR OF A			
	a destant				una ara a may			- de mon			1	14 -		1.4					
			U. &	& O. RA	TE (U	se this sp	ace on	ly when	n risk	consis	ts of a	sing	le bui	 lding	g.)				
Total (Charg	ges, Column 1	% U. &	& O. RA	TE (Us % Inte	se this sp	ace on % 1	ly when Picking	n risk	consis % Gro	ts of a ss Rate	sing e	le bui 809	 1ding % R	g.) at e	x	%)=	

C	SURVEY WAD VIL DOWN 1	Lot .	Rice	
Sur	veyor NAP, volPageI	L'Ot		s
Tow	vnState, Owner			
No		Charges	Credits	1
		<u>churges</u>	01.	#
Des	grtStories, with, without basement, sub-b sin t, 2nd sub-b sin t	%	/0	\$
Aas	13 = - (no sm t) = % (for for for			
MIC	a internet inte			
wa	Pight Indot contra cuttain calf supporting bearing thickness			
	Avo in Def.			
	Left Indot party curtain self-supporting hearing thickness			
	Avo in Def in			1.24
	Front curtain self-supporting bearing-thickness			
	Avgin_Defin_			
	Rear Indot party curtain self-supporting hearing-thickness			1
	Avg in Defin.			
	Bearing Party right left rear minimum thickness in Story			-
	Frame IC Sk IC BV right left front rear			
	Iron and (or) Glass right left front rear			
	Stone concrete not reinforced tile terra cotta HCB right left front rearStories			
	Bay Windows wooden frames right left front rear continuous not continuous. Stories			-
Ceil	lings and Walls, sheathed with wood, strawboard, paper, canvas			
	Non-combustible finish with combustible supportsStories			
Skv	lights. No. Size and description			-
	wired, not wired			-
Inte	erior well holes, light shafts and courts (open to the sky)			
	Area			
Roo	of, reinforced concrete, hollow tile, wood			
co	ombustible over fireproof floor, top story retinue			
Par	apets, Right, thicknessheightadjoining building is higher, lowerStoriesft.			
1	Left, thicknessheightadjoining building is higher, lowerStoriesft.			
Flo	or, construction and thickness			
Flo	or Surfacing (wood), nailing strips not imbedded in fireproof material, space beneath flooring not filled			
	Floorways			
Flo	or Supports, roof supports, construction			
-	Stories			
	MEMORANDA OF FLOORWAYS AND THEIR RETINUES.			
Coc	kloft or Roof Space open closed			
Chu	ites. Dumb Waiters. Ventilating Shafts			
	, ,			
Hat	chways			
Stai	rways			
-				
Elev	vators			
-				

Floorways S-B E	8-1 1-	2 2-3	3-4	4-5	5-6	6-7	7-8	8-9	9-10	10-11	11-12	12-13	13-14	14-15	15-16	16-17	17-18	18-19	19-20			
Retinue (lowest)																						
to. Op's "below a"			0.8																			
Chlora and Can dita																						
Ch'g's and Credits	1	1																1			 	
Partitions, non-combus ing floor, anchored, r	tible, not ar	with, w nchored	vithou latt	ut co: :op	mbus	tible	studo	ding,	fran	ning,	resti	ng o	n fire	eproc	of flo	or, o	n wo	od w	vear-		 	
Decks, galleries, platfo	orms	(constr	uctio	on)														Sto	ories		 	
																					 	- -
Area (storage of good	s)												·								 	-
Stairs (construction)																					 	-
Heating, stoves, hot ai	ir, ho	t water	, stea	am, 1	ocati	on									à.						 -•	-
Lighting, gas, kerosene	e, gas	oline, a	acetyl	lene,	elect	ricity															 -•	-
Exterior Attachments,	awnin	1gs			, st	airwa	iys, o	open,	box	ed,			, bı	idge	s, en	close	d, op	en, s	ides,		 	-
roof,	moni	tors, re	oof h	ouses	8																 -•	-
roof, Additions (not fireproc	moni of), br	tors, re ick, H	oof h CB.,	ouses tile,	Sk. I	C., fr	ame,	IC.,	com	muni	catin	g (n	ot cu	t off), he	ight					 - •	-
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area	moni of), br	tors, re	cB.,	ouses tile,	Sk. I	C., fr	ame, 	IC.,	com _% o	muni f cor	catin nbine	g (n ed ar	ot cu ea, in	it off), he sed,	ight decre	eased		%	 	 -• -•	-
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area	moni of), br	tors, re	CB.,	ouses tile,	Sk. I	C., fr	ame, 	IC.,	com -% o _% o	muni f con f con	catin nbine nbine	g (n ed ar d are	ot cu ea, in ea, +	nt off), he sed,	ight decre	eased		%		 -• -•	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr	moni of), br	tors, ra ick, H , girder	CB.,	tile,	Sk. I	C., fr	ame, nd ro	IC.,	com % o % o labs,	muni of con f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d are ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ncrea 2 ers,), he sed,	ight	eased		%		 - •	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr	moni of), bi	tors, ra ick, H , girde	cB., cB.,	ouses tile,	sk. I	C., fr	ame, nd ro	IC.,	com -% o _% o labs,	muni f cor f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d ar ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	at off acrea 2 ers,), he sed,	ight decro	eased		%		 - ·	-
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr	moni of), br cusses	tors, re ick, H , girde:	rs, co	ouses tile,	s. I	C., fr	ame, _= nd ro	IC.,	com -% o _% o labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d ar ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, ÷ nemb	at off acrea 2), he	ight	eased		%		 - ·	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr	moni of), br cusses	tors, re rick, H , girder	rs, co	ouses tile,	Sk. I	C., fr	ame, _= nd ro	IC.,	com -% 0 _% 0 labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d are ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, ÷ nemb	at off acrea 2 ers,), he	ight	eased		%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge	moni of), br russes e sch	tors, ro rick, H , girden edule p	cB., cB., rs, co pages	ouses tile, blumn 4, 5	sk. I s, flo and	C., fr	ame, nd ro	IC.,	com -% o _% o labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d ar ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, ÷ nemb	at off acrea 2 ers,), he	ight decre	eased		%		 ······	
roof, Additions (not fireproo stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balanc	moni of), br cusses e sch e and e of r	tors, ro ick, H , girden edule p credit percent	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages	ouses tile, olumn 4, 5 ls	Sk. I sk, flc and and	C., fr	ame, _=	IC.,	com -% o -% o labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d ar ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, ÷ nemb	ers,), he	ight	eased		%		 ······	\$
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance	moni of), br russes e sch e and e of p	tors, ro rick, H , girden edule p credit percent	cB., cB., rs, co pages total ages	ouses tile, olumn 4, 5 ls exter	sk. I sk, flo and and	C., fr	ame, nd ro	IC.,	com % o % o labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine nbine forci	g (n ed ar d are	ot cu ea, in ea, ÷ nemb	ers,), he	ight	eased		%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance	moni of), br cusses e scho e and e of p	tors, ra rick, H , girden edule p credit percent	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages	ouses tile, tile, blumm 4, 5 lsexter	Sk. I	С., fr рог ал 6) С R (sтя	ame,	IC.,	com % 0 % 0 labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine hbine forci	g (n ed ar d are	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	acrea 2 ers,), he	ight	cased		%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance	moni of), br cusses e sch e and e of p om st	tors, re rick, H , girden edule p credit percent	cB., CB., rs, co pages total ages marl	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 is exter	Sk. I Sk. I and anded	C., fr	ame, nd ro 	TS RAL	com -% o _% o labs,	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine hbine forci	g (n ed ar d are ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers,), he	ight	cased		%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproo stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Interior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing	moni of), br cusses e sche e and e of p om st	tors, ra rick, H , girden edule p credit percent	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages marl	ouses tile, t olumn 4, 5 ls exter	Sk. I ss, flc and nded	C., fr	ame, nd ro E D I	TS RAL	com % o % o labs,) ration	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine hbine forci	g (n ed ar d ar ng n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers,), he	ight	cased		%		 76	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Interior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways	moni of), br cusses e sch e and e of p om st	tors, ro rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages marl	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 is exter	s. I Sk. I as, flc and anded	С., fr оог ал 6) С R (sт R	ame, ad ro E D I UCTU uCTU nd d , c, , li	IC., oof s RAL) lecor comb	com -% o _% o labs,) ation oustib	muni f con f con re-in 	catin nbine forci aames es, n	g (n ed ar d are ng n n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers,), he sed,	ightdecro	and	fixtu	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproo stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Unterior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways. Parts of Building less	moni of), br cusses e sche e and e of p om st than	tors, ra ick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages marl	ouses tile, tile,	Sk. I ss, flc and aded	C., fr	ame, , ame,	IC., oof s TS RAL	com -% o labs,) ration oustib occu	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine forci ames es, n	g (n ed ar d ar ng n n o co:	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers,), he sed,	ight	and	fixtt	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Interior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways_ Parts of Building less	moni of), br russes e sch e and e of p om st than	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages marl	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 is exter ble v	s. I Sk. I as, flc and anded parat	С., fr оог ал 6) с с к с с к с с к с с к с с к с с к с с к	ame, ad ro E D I UCTU uCTU	TS RAL) lecor comb	com -% o _% o labs,) ation oustib occu	muni f con f con re-in	catin nbine forci aames es, n	g (n ed ar d are ng n n n n n n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers,), he sed, furn	ightdecre	and	fixtu	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Interior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways. Parts of Building less	moni of), br russes e sche e and e of p om st than	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal	marl	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 ls exter ble v	Sk. I ss, flc and aded parat	C., fr	ame, nd ro E D I ueru ueru mnd d , C , lii 	IC., oof s TS RAL Jecor comb	com -% o labs,) ration oustib occu	muni f con re-in IS le fr panci	catin nbine forci ames es, n	g (n ed ar ng n ng n o co:	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers, ttible), he sed, furn	ight decre	and	fixtr d)	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Unterior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways_ Parts of Building less	moni of), br cusses e sche e and e of p om st than	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal	oof h CB., rs, co oages total ages marl lf floo	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 is exter ble v	Sk. I ss, flc and anded parat	C., fr	ame, and ro E D I UCTU uCTU nnd d , c , li 	TS (RAL) lecor comb	com -% o _% o labs,) ation oustib occu	muni f con re-in re-in	catin nbine forci aames es, n	g (n ed ar d are ng n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers,), he sed, furn	ight decre	and	fixtr	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproo stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Unterior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways_ Parts of Building less Inside standpipes, size Outside fire escapes. lan	moni of), br russes e sch e and e of p om st than than	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal	bof h CB., rs, co pages total ages marl lf floc	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 is exter ble v or sej ize_outsi	Sk. I ss, flc and anded parat	C., fr oor an 6) c R (str ing s ed fotal (protal (protal) (protal)	ame, nd ro E D I Ueru und d , c , li Cred orecr nount pes	TS RAL) lecor comb	com -% o -% o labs,) ation oustib occu	muni f con f con re-in ss le fr panci	catin nbine forci ames es, n	g (n ed ar d are ng n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	ers, tible addec), he sed, furn d and	ight decre iiture	and	fixtu d)	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Unterior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways. Parts of Building less Inside standpipes, size Outside fire escapes, lan Automatic fire alarm s	moni of), br cusses e sche e and e of p om st than than dings	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal ho each fla, name	oof h CB., rs, co pages total ages marl lf floc	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 ls exter ble v ble v ize outsid	Sk. I ss, flc and aded parat	C., fr	E D I E D I vertu and ro Cred otrector cred otrector	TS RAL lecor comb lits f	com -% o % o labs,) ration ustib occu	muni f con f con re-in	ames es, n	g (n ed ar d ar ng n o co:	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	at off acrea 2 ers, tible addea st), he sed, furn d and eame	ight decre iiture	and	fixtu d)	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Unterior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways_ Parts of Building less Inside standpipes, size Outside fire escapes, lan Automatic fire alarm s Casks and pails, chemi	moni of), br russes e sche e and e of p om st than than dings ystem cal ex	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal ho each fa , name ctinguis	bof h CB., rs, co bages total ages marl lf floc	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 (s exter ble v or sej ize	Sk. I ss, flc and anded parat	C., fr oor an 6) CR (srr ing s ed (protal (protal (protal) (protal) (protal) (protal) (protal) (protal) (protal)	ame, nd ro E D I UUETU und d , li Cred DTECT nount pes	TS RAL) lecor comb light lits f	com -% o labs,) ation occu	muni f con f con re-in	ames es, n	g (n ed ar d are ng n n o co:	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	at off acrea 2ers, ers, ttible addec st), he sed, furn d and eame	ight decre iiture	and	fixtu d)	%		 	
roof, Additions (not fireproc stories, area roof area Fireproofing, beams, tr Occupancy Charge (see Charge Balance Unterior Finish free fro Wood floor surfacing Water-tight floorways. Parts of Building less Inside standpipes, size Outside fire escapes, lan Automatic fire alarm s Casks and pails, chemi Watchman, approved c	moni of), br russes e sche e and e of p om st than than dings ystem cal ex clock	tors, re- rick, H , girden edule p credit percent one or one-hal ho each fl a, name ctinguis	oof h CB., rs, co pages total ages marl lf floc	ouses tile, i olumn 4, 5 ls exter ble v ble v ize outsid	Sk. I Sk. I as, flc and aded aded parat	C., fr oor an 6) c R (srr (srr ing a ed (pro andpig No ntral	EDI EDI UCTU and d Cred DTECT Nount statio	TS RAL lecor comb lits f rion	com -% o % o labs,) ration ustib occu	muni f con re-in Is le fr panci	catin nbine forci ames es, n mral f	g (n ed ar d ar ng n o co:	ot cu ea, in ea, + nemb	at off acrea 2ers, ers,_ ers, ers, ers, ers,_ ers, ers, ers,_ ers,_ ers, ers, ers,_ ers,_ ers, ers, ers,_ ers, ers,_ ers), he sed, furn d and eame ation	ight decree	and	fixtu	%		 	

З

		u (unexposi		lorward						- #
				EXPOSU	JRES			·····		
ap No. or Division	Ordinary, Large, Small	Exposing	Exposed	No. of Openings	Rate	Standard	Per Cent of Standard	Distance	Diagonal Glancing	
					\$	\$		ft.		\$
					\$	\$	····· %	ft.		\$
					\$	\$	····· %	ft.		\$
					\$	\$		ft		\$
					\$	\$	····· %	ft.		\$
					\$	\$	%	ft.		\$
				WALL DAI	MAGES					
lap No. or Division	Basis Rate	Final Rate	Excess	Total Charge	e Per Cent	Net Charge	Distance	Reduction For Space	Change For Size	
	\$. \$	\$		\$				\$
	\$;	\$	\$		\$				\$
No. Div.		1. A. C.	со	MMUNICATIO	N CHARGES		- L			
Rı	uilding. No.	Grade	C	to D1	% of \$	_= \$	to for add	itional open	ings. Total	\$
, Bt	uilding. No.	Grade		to D1	% of \$	\$	+s for add	itional open	ings. Total	\$
, Cc	ontents, No		C,	.to D ,	% of \$	\$	+s foradd	. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	"
Ca	ntents, No		C,	to D	% of \$		t. foradd	0000 - \$	Carr'd below	
UU					····· /0 01 \$. υρgs φ		
, Co	ntents, No		C,	to D ,	% of \$	\$ ·	+₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
, Co , Co , Co	ontents, No	, Grade , Grade	C,	.to D ,	% of \$ % of \$	\$ · \$ ·	+₅ foradd +₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
, Co , Co , Co Building	ontents, No ontents, No g Estimate, Occ	, Grade , Grade cupied and	C, C, Exposed	.to D ,	% of \$	= \$	t₅ foradd t₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below Carr'd below	
, Co , Co , Co Building	ontents, No ontents, No g Estimate, Occ	, Grade , Grade cupied and	C, Exposed AFTER CHA	.to D ,	% of \$ % of \$ % of \$	= \$	ts foradd ts foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below Carr'd below	
, Co , Co Building Icating	ontents, No ontents, No g Estimate, Occ Arrangements, (, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe)	C,C,Exposed	to D ,	% of \$ % of \$ RANDA)	= \$	+ ₆ foradd + ₈ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
, Co , Co Building Icating	ontents, No ontents, No g Estimate, Occ Arrangements, (, Grade Grade cupied and (unsafe)	C, Exposed AFTER CHA	.to D ,	% of \$% of \$	= \$	+ ₆ foradd + ₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Leating	Arrangements, (Arrangements, (, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe)	C, Exposed AFTER CHA	.to D ,	% of \$ % of \$ RANDA)		+ ₆ foradd + ₈ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ 	Carr'd below	
Icating	ontents, No. ontents, No. g Estimate, Occ Arrangements, (Arrangements,	, Grade Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe)	C,C,	.to D ,	% of \$	\$ ·	+ ₆ foradd + ₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Jeating	ontents, No. ontents, No. g Estimate, Occ Arrangements, (Arrangements, (u	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe)	C, Exposed	.to D ,	% of \$ % of \$ RANDA)		+ ₆ foradd + ₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$ \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Jighting	ontents, No. ontents, No. g Estimate, Occ Arrangements, (Arrangements, (t	, Grade Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe)	C,	.to D ,	% of \$	-= \$	t _δ foradd t _δ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Jighting Yower A	Arrangements, (1 Arrangements, (1 Arrangements, (1 Arrangements, (1)	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) tion of Pret	C,	.to D ,	% of \$		t ₆ foradd t ₅ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Jower A	ontents, No. ontents, No. g Estimate, Occ Arrangements, (Arrangements, (arrangements, (t nent and Condit	, Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) ion of Pren	C,C,	.to D ,	% of \$	\$ ·	t _δ foradd t _δ foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Jighting Vower A Aanagem	Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u nent and Condit	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) tion of Pres	C,C,	e cans, drip c		== \$	to foradd to foradd moking sign	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Jower A Aanagem Aiscellan flexible	Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u nent and Condit neous, lack of m e rubber tube wi	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) cion of Pren etal lockers ith gas, etc	C, C, Exposed AFTER CHA nises , metal wast . (see also s	e cans, drip c	% of \$ % of \$ RANDA)	-== \$	to foradd to foradd to foradd moking sign	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
Jighting Nower A Aanagem Aiscellan	Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (rrangements, (nent and Condit neous, lack of m rubber tube with	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) ion of Pren etal lockers ith gas, etc	C,C,	to D , to D , RGES (MEMO e cans, drip c sixth page)		== \$	to foradd to foradd moking sign	. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Jower A Aanagem Aiscellan flexible	Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u nent and Condit rubber tube w	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) tion of Pres etal lockers ith gas, etc	C, C, Exposed AFTER CHA nises , metal wast . (see also s	e cans, drip c		== \$	to foradd to foradd moking sign	. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Jeating Jeating Jeating Jower A Aanagem Aiscellan flexible	Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (unent and Condit neous, lack of m rubber tube with of Building	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) ion of Pren etal lockers ith gas, etc	C, C, Exposed AFTER CHA nises , metal wast . (see also s	e cans, drip c	% of \$	-== \$	to foradd to foradd to foradd	. opgs. = \$. opgs	Carr'd below	
Jighting Power A Aanagem Aiscellan flexible	Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u Arrangements, (u nent and Condit neous, lack of m rubber tube with of Building	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) tion of Pren etal lockers ith gas, etc	C,	to D , to D , RGES (MEMO e cans, drip c jixth page)		== \$	to foradd to foradd moking sign	. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$. opgs. = \$	Carr'd below	
Jeating Lighting Power A Aanagem Aiscellan flexible	Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (ment and Condit ecous, lack of m rubber tube with of Building Building	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) ion of Pren etal lockers ith gas, etc	C, C, Exposed AFTER CHA nises , metal wast . (see also s	to D , to D , RGES (MEMO e cans, drip c sixth page) axes	% of \$	-= \$	moking sign	 opgs. = \$ opgs. = \$ opgs. = \$ \$ <	Carr'd below	
Jighting Jower A Aanagem Aiscellan flexible	Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (Arrangements, (arrangements, (nent and Condit neous, lack of m rubber tube with of Building	, Grade , Grade cupied and (unsafe) (unsafe) unsafe) etal lockers ith gas, etc	C,C,	to D , to D , RGES (MEMO e cans, drip c sixth page) axes		== \$	to foradd to foradd to foradd moking sign and extended	. opgs. = \$ \$	Carr'd below	*

1

SCHEDULE OF OCCUPANCY

SCHEDU	I

				our Anor					1	501	SOMEDOLE OF OC										PADVALD BA				
Street No.	Floor	OCCUPANCY Fio	or Average Each Hands	COLUMN	- Floor Contents U Charges B	Inexposed Id'g Rate	RES After and Charges	Published Rate	Street Floor	OCCUPANCY	Floor Area Each Occ'n't Hands	ge COI	2 3	Floor Contents Unexpor Charges Bld'g R	sed EXPOSUR Ordinary : Com'unic't	and Charges	Published Rate	Street No. Floor	OCCUPANCY	Floor Area Each Occ'p't Han	ge COLUMN Is 1 2 3	Floor Contents Charges	Bld'g Rate Com	linary and l'unic'tions After Charges	Publishee Rate
			pt	1 2 3			10015																		
																	-								
						-																			
																						1.271 (s) (s) (s) (s)			
										- internet and in			1.1026	1998 <u>- 1998 - 18</u> 99				1							
														and the past of							•				
	-		A A								-				1.4										
											19	-		-											
-																									
																						1000			
										~															
						· ·····																			
																			······				1200 1400 170		· · · · ·
							*													1	n 1	1		1 (1)	1
																		Total C	olumn 1%; Highest Cha	rge in Column 2.		%; Tot	tal Charges		%
																		D : D	1 Cl. the (if at standard describe	dofoots)					
																		Fire Do	ors and Shutters (if not standard, describe	uerects)					
••							A Carlos and																		
				k															8						·
				1.10	ALC: N													REMAI	KS:						
			3. 19. 14																						
				1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 -		a vi s inter			1																
											l entre parts														
									×			la lite :	6												
						1							AP SAL	These strange strain		1 P	1								
						-												1.		-					
	J																								
											S I Press I and											•			
																				S. Comp. S. L.					
					2																1				
Тс	tal Coli	umn 1%; Highest Charge in	Column 2		%; To	otal Charges		%	Total Column 1	%; Highest Char	ge in Column 2.			%; Total (Charges		%								

5

E OF OCCUPANCY

SCHEDULE OF OCCUPANCY

The State of Kansas passed the first law dealing directly with the making of fire insurance rates (6). This gives to the state insurance commissioner the full authority to raise or lower any rates that he finds to be inadequate or excessive. All rates must be filed with the commissioner of insurance and all companies must charge the same rate, unless permission is granted otherwise as in case of the mutual companies.

SELF INSURANCE

Self insurance refers to the responsibility that ownership assumes in such losses as may occur to property through fire or other hazards involving loss.

Self insurance may be classified into three categories: First, <u>Insurance reserve fund</u> plan, in which a fund is set up to be used for paying future fire losses; second, the <u>No-Insurance plan</u>, in which no insurance is carried either in reserve or in private companies, but all losses are paid out of current funds; and third, the <u>Partial Insurance</u> plan, in which the property owner carries his own insurance on fire proof buildings and insures all non-fireproof buildings with stock companies.

The simplest form of self insurance is the prevention of loss. Prevention involves elimination of the common hazards, such as bringing the electric wiring of properties

to the standard set by the National Electrical Code, governing electric installations; eliminating sources of spontaneous combustion; correcting defective flues; insulating flues; installing fire door, approved by the underwriters in rooms where the possibility of fire originating is greatest, as in the furnace, boiler and fuel rooms, the industrial arts or manual training room and the portions of buildings which are non-fire resistive. The installation of automatic sprinklers, fire extinguishers, special water service and fire fighting equipment should be considered.

Risks should be widely distributed and of fireproof construction, particularly the larger ones. The service of prevention against loss should be very adequate at every source of loss.

If the unit of ownership is large enough to provide a wide distribution of the hazards involved so that the law of averages may properly operate, the question of self insurance becomes an economic issue. Self insurance on this basis, over a period of years, will prove economical for any large division of government, such as a large city school district or a state. This fact (5, p. 144) is due to the large portion of premiums which goes to pay underwriting expenses of the commercial companies. For 264 companies, for the years 1926 to 1930, the underwriting expenses have been approximately 46.6 per cent of the premiums; while that

of self insurance organizations proves to be in the neighborhood of about 4 per cent.

The growth of the insurance business, the problem of insurance costs and returns, indifference and neglect to offer the best of service to meet the greatest possible losses without great handicap or difficulty have been factors leading to the development of self insurance.

Self Insurance in Cities

Smith (6) states that two conditions must be met in order that school fire insurance may be carried by the cities themselves; first, there must be a sufficient number of school buildings so that the law of averages will apply; and second, the buildings must be well scattered. He concludes that any large city can, over a period of years, save money by carrying its own insurance because of the high percentage of premiums that is required by insurance companies for expenses. His conclusions are based on the fact that this plan has proved satisfactory in the 22 large cities listed in his study.

The following report by Linn (2) is of interest in this relation:

"The Committee on Insurance Research of the National Association of Public School Business Officials reported in 1932 that out of 401 city school districts of 10,000 or

more population in the United States and Canada which it had investigated, 49 carried all or a major portion of their own insurance risks. The report of this committee contains the following interesting information.

"For the forty-nine cities under the self insurance plan, the total school building valuations are reported to be \$1,274,729,897. The combined losses for the ten-year period total \$1,415,352. The ratio of losses for the ten years to present valuations is eleven one-hundredths (0.11) of 1 per cent, or practically one one-hundredth (0.01) of 1 per cent of valuations per year. This is only one-fourth of the corresponding ratio which pertained in the cities which purchased insurance. The fire loss records of the self-insured city school districts are shown to have been four times as good as for those protected by insurance companies. The cost of all protection under this plan has been a small item and clearly indicates that school districts can and do furnish themselves complete and effective insurance service."

The specific data on a few cities which have been successful with their self insurance systems are significant.

"The school property losses in New York City over a period of 5 years amounted to only \$64,936 or 0.91 per cent on a round value of \$143,020,145. Insurance on the same amount of property would have cost 11 per cent or twelve

times as much as the total losses.

"School fire losses have aggregated only about \$6,000 annually in Chicago during the past 20 years." (2).

Between 1913 and 1929, Philadelphia experienced school fire losses amounting to \$405,844.44. If insurance had been carried during this time, approximately \$1,250,000 would have been spent for premiums. An indefinite appropriation was made each year ranging from \$25,000 to \$525,000, which totaled with interest \$3,183,658. The interest on this has more than paid all fire losses. The sum of \$1,900,000 was withdrawn to build a fireproof building to replace old ones (4).

The Cincinnati plan of self insurance was adopted in 1912; approximately \$12,500 for several years then \$25,000 annually was placed into a reserve fund. In 1924 the local insurance fund reached \$350,000 and was invested in school bonds. Since that time no appropriations have been made, but the fund continues to increase from the interest on the fund. In 1931 the fund amounted to \$401,000 but paid out less than \$5,000 for losses in the 19 years. The interest will be allowed to accumulate until the fund reaches \$500,000, after which time interest payments will be transferred to the general fund for school expenditures (4).

Self Insurance in States

Since the majority of school districts are too small to warrant their assuming the risks that must be assumed when they carry their own insurance, and since rates which are charged by insurance companies appear to be excessive when school losses are considered, it has been suggested that school property should be protected against loss through state insurance. Under this plan of insurance the risks are widely distributed and constitute a sufficient number to permit the law of averages to function.

Seven states have adopted and have in operation some type of a self insurance plan. These are: Alabama, Florida, Michigan, North Dakota, South Carolina, Vermont, and Wisconsin. However, only North Dakota, Wisconsin, and South Carolina have established funds and provided insurance for public school property against loss by fire. These three states are all very successful in their plans for handling their own insurance.

The following excerpts (2) have been used to illustrate the successful experience with state insurance:

"<u>The South Carolina State Insurance Plan</u>. South Carolina adopted the state-insurance plan in 1900 and made insurance of all public school property in the state fund compulsory. A standard form policy is issued and rates are
charged that average approximately 20 per cent less than the rates charged by commercial underwriters. Windstorm insurance is provided with no additional charge. Under the law, when the fund reaches the sum of \$1,000,000 no further premiums are required to be paid on property that has been continuously insured with the fund for five years or longer. This limit was first reached in 1926.

"On September 30, 1931 a total of \$41,448,015 of insurance was carried with the state fund, of which \$26,658,472 represented insurance on public school property. The insurance fund amounted to \$1,004,869.43 at that time. It was figured by the Secretary of the sinking fund commission that the state-insurance plan saved the people of the state \$260,760.03 in 1928, and \$291,000 in 1929. An idea of the general success of this state-insurance plan may be obtained from the financial statement showing receipts and disbursements from the beginning of the fund in 1900 up to September 30, 1931.

Receipts	
Premium Income	\$2,085,747.94
Interest Income	516.311.57
Rents	2,250.00
	\$2,604,309.51
Disbursements	
Fire Losses	851,395.51
Windstorm Losses	61,291.38
Expense	81,624.82
Reinsurance	605,101.37
Net Profit as Represented by Assets	
on Hand September 31, 1931	1,004,896.43
	\$2.604.309.51

"<u>The Wisconsin State Fire Insurance Fund</u>. Wisconsin created a state fire insurance fund in 1903 for the purpose of insuring all state property to the amount of 90 per cent of its value at 60 per cent of the rate charged by stock companies. In 1911 and 1913 the statutes were amended to include county, city, village, town, school districts, and library property under the same terms, except that the amount of insurance desired was left optional with the board of control. On December 31, 1931 the state fund had insurance in force amounting to \$123,045,131.08, and was insuring all state-owned public buildings and the buildings owned by 27 counties, 41 cities, villages, and towns, 177 school districts, 3 sanitariums, and 7 libraries.

"Between 1903 and December 31, 1931 the people of Wisconsin saved \$4,072,506.67 through their state-insurance plan. Of this amount, \$1,276,368.20 represented savings from reduced premiums. During the period in question the premiums actually paid to the state fund aggregated \$3,246,310.66 as compared with a total of \$4,522,678.86 that would have been paid to stock companies had the fund not been in existence. The fund surplus, as of December 31, 1931, amounted to \$2,796,138.47.

"The total expense in connection with the administration of the fund between 1903 and 1931 amounted to \$92,872.62, or an operating ratio of approximately 3 per

cent. The loss ratio during that period averaged 28 per cent, <u>despite the fact that premiums are only 60 per cent</u> <u>of those charged by private companies</u>. A recapitulation of receipts and disbursements for the state fund between April 1, 1903 and December 31, 1931 presents the following financial picture:

Receipts	
Premiums Received	\$3.246.310.66
Interest	675.803.71
Return Premiums on Reinsurance	15,404.98
Profit on Sale of Assets	11,167.49
	\$3,948,686.84

Disbursements	
Losses Paid	910,326.64
Expense	92,875.62
Reinsurance	143,340.12
Loss on Sale of Assets	6,005.99
	1,152,548.37
Assets of Fund December 31, 1931	2,796,138.47
	\$3,948,686.84

"The North Dakota State Fire and Tornado Insurance Fund. The North Dakota State Fire and Tornado Fund began to function July 1, 1919, and has had a successful experience in spite of a heavy loss when the State Capitol Building was destroyed by fire in 1930. The rates are practically the same as those charged by commercial underwriters doing business in the state. On July 31, 1932, the fund had total assets of \$1,660,276.76. The financial story of this state fund between 1919 and 1931 is told in the following exhibit.

Underwriting, Profit and Loss Exhibit July 1, 1919--December 31, 1931 Total net premiums written \$2,179,940.17 Less unearned premiums 12/31/31.. 270,689.87 Total premiums earned \$1,909,250.30 Losses paid 665.177.27 Underwriting expenses 94,609.00 Underwriting expenses and losses 759,786.27 Profit from underwriting \$1,149,464.03 Interest received 247,662.09 Operating profit \$1,397,126.12 Income Earned Total premiums earned \$1,909,250.30 \$2,156,912.39 Ratios to Premiums Earned Losses Underwriting expenses 4.0 Underwriting profit 60.2 Ratios to Income Earned Operating expenses 4.4 Operating profit 64.8" The most remarkable thing about these state insurance

The most remarkable thing about these state insurance plans is that South Carolina uses only 4 per cent, North Dakota 4.4, and Wisconsin 3 per cent of their premiums for operating expenses. Commercial companies require approximately 50 per cent for their operating expenses. While it is true that commercial companies limit their risks on individual policies by reinsuring with other companies, the state, a municipal insurance agency, also can carry reinsurance.

The law of averages certainly could not find a more

ideal situation than in Kansas which has some 9,460 school properties scattered over a territory of 80,000 square miles.

FIRE LOSSES IN KANSAS

The annual reports of the State Fire Marshall's Office (1, 7), known now as the Fire Division of the Department of Inspections and Registrations, State of Kansas, present some very interesting facts pertinent to this study. A report form is shown such as is filed with the above office for each fire which occurs in the state regardless of the insurance carried. A number of tables have been prepared to show fire losses on the educational institutions in Kansas. In Table 3 are shown all the losses annually from 1913 to 1934 inclusive for Kansas schools and for losses on all types of property. The table reveals an average of 25 fires for each of the 22 years for the schools compared with 3,282 for all classes of property. However, for the last ten years the average has been 19.5 fires per year on school property and 3,300 on all classes. The school losses have shown a tendency to decrease in number while that of all classes shows a slight increase.

The amount of fire losses on school buildings is shown in Table 4. Twenty-five per cent of all fire losses were for less than \$100 and 88 per cent of all fire losses were for less than \$10,000. Only three fires resulted in losses

amounting to more than \$100,000 and in only one case did the loss amount to more than \$200,000. In the past seven years the amount of losses indicates that losses have been only partial and one of the three large losses was on state property which was not insured.

Figure 1 shows the amount of the losses and the number of fires plotted. The curves tend to reach the peak during the period when heat is most needed, while when school has not been in session there has been practically no fire loss. This would indicate that a careful inspection of heating equipment and flues would greatly lessen the chance of fire.

The losses shown in Tables 5 to 11 are actual losses by fire although the property on which the losses were sustained was not always covered by insurance. For the years 1928 to 1934 inclusive the tables show the schools and counties involved in fire losses.

The summary for the seven years is shown in Table 12. The total of the 112 fires caused a loss of \$1,225,596 on building and contents. Fifty-nine per cent of this loss was covered by insurance leaving a net loss of \$502,737 to be carried by the school districts. Of the percentage covered by insurance, 66 per cent of the losses on buildings was insured, while only 30 per cent of the loss on contents was covered by insurance.

The total value of all property which was damaged by fire was \$5,277,917 and of this amount 61.3 per cent was covered by insurance. The average annual insured loss

KANSAS STATE FIRE MARSHAL DEPARTMENT

REPORTS TO THIS OFFICE ARE CONFIDENTIAL MAKE SEPARATE REPORT FOR EACH BUILDING BURNED

KANSAS STATE FIRE M	ARSHAL DEPARTMENT	amounted to \$1
MAKE SEPARATE REPORT FO	OR EACH BUILDING BURNED	03,2
Report No.	County of	65.
Date of reportday of193	NOTICE.	
Date of fireday of	Read the following carefully before making report. State the circumstances of the fire, indicating how and where it originated, and any other material facts.	
Hour of fire	If suspicious of incendiary origin, state the grounds for sus- picion and mention date insurance was taken out.	
Name of owner	INDICATING THE CAUSE OF THE FIRE.	
Name of occupant	"Carelessness" cannot be accepted as a cause of a fire, because all fires, save those from an adjoining fire, incendiarism and light- ning result from carelessness.	
Street and number	"Adjoining Fire or Exposure" applies in all cases in which the burning of a near-by building is the cause. "Lightning" being the cause, state whether or not building was	
(wood)	rodded. If so, were the rods in good condition?	
Kind of structure { stone }	and a face for and the local second s	
Value of building, .	"Personal Injuries." Were any persons killed or injured in this fire? If so, give names, extent and cause of injuries.	
Insurance on building, \$	aler and an extension should be aler aler and all a should be	S S
Value of contents,	non <u>an annal and deadhar an deanna</u> Màrd an an dei ann fharran a' leanna Màrd an a' leanna dharran a' leanna	
Damage to contents,		
Insurance on contents,	REMARKS.	
Cause of fire		
	Mayor or Fire Chief.	

Kansas Fire Marshal Law.

(Revised Statutes of 1923.)

31-201. That the state fire marshal, either by himself or through other persons as in this act provided, may investigate the cause, origin and circumstances of any fire occurring within the state, and in such cases it shall be the duty of the chief of the fire department of every city, the mayor of any city where no fire department exists, and of the township clerk of every township outside the limits of any city to investigate the cause, origin and circumstances of every fire occurring in such city or township as the case may be by which property has been destroyed or damaged, and to specially make investigation as to whether such fire was of incendiary origin. Such investigation shall begin within two days, not including Sunday, after the occurrence of each fire. The state fire marshal shall have the right to supervise and direct such investigation whenever he deems it necessary. The officer making the investigation of fires occurring in cities or townships shall forthwith notify the state fire marshal and shall, within one week of the occurrence of the fire, furnish to the state fire marshal a written statement of all facts relating to the cause, origin and circumstances of the fire and such other information as may be called for in the blanks provided by the state fire marshal. Any officer named in this and the preceding section who neglects to comply with any requirements of this act shall be fined not less than twenty-five (25) dollars nor more than two hundred (200) dollars. [L. 1917, ch. 198, § 5; March 8.]

31-209. That there shall be paid to the chiefs of fire departments, mayors of incorporated cities where no fire department exists, who receive no compensation for their services as fire chief or mayor, and to the clerks of organized townships, without the limits of incorporated cities, who are by this act required to report fires to the state fire marshal, the sum of fifty cents (50c) for each fire so reported to the satisfaction of the state fire marshal, and in addition thereto mileage at the rate of five cents (5c) per mile for each mile necessarily traveled in going to and returning from the place of fire. Said allowance shall be paid by the fire marshal out of any funds appropriated, designated or set apart for the use of the said state fire marshal. [L. 1917, ch. 198, § 18; March 8.]

14-3436



	School	s and colleges	All prope	erty in Kansas
	: Number	: Amount	Number :	Amount
	: of	: of :	of :	of
Year	: fires	: loss :	fires :	loss
1913	15	\$ 35,074	3127	\$ 4.257.773
1914	35	100,816	2974	3.411.224
1915	33	181,645	2445	2.745.803
1916	35	131,594	3305	4.050.743
1917	35	70,103	3693	4.883.994
1918	40	214,082		
1919	28	142,818		
1920	15	85,600		5.616.117
1921	32	142.100	3220	5.301.203
1922	32	63.868	3910	5.729.847
1923	28	207.771	3397	5.262.697
1924	33	296.144	3750	5.884.553
1925	36	402.778	3788	6,177,044
1926	25	109.770	3337	4.801.773
1927	23	33.601	2801	4.017.335
1928	11	54,100	3128	4.254.481
1929	18	288,225	2974	3.788.772
1930	17	84,317	3445	4.034.586
1931	13	77.067	2915	3.417.759
1932	13	133,122	3482	3.761.155
1933	20	60.356	3380	3.238.521
1934	19	533,391		
otals	556	\$3,448,342	59071	\$84,635,380
verages	25.27	\$ 156,743	3282	\$ 3,847,063

Table 3. Kansas school losses and combined property losses including schools.

		Number of fires by years												
Amount of loss	: 1928	: 1929	: 1930	: 1931	: 1932	: 1933	: 1934	: Total						
0-\$4.9	0	0	3	3	1	1	2	10						
5- 99	3	5	2	2	5	4	2	23						
100-499	1	2	3	2	4	3	3	18						
500- 999	1	0	0	l	1	0	3	6						
1,000- 9,999	5	8	7	4	2	11	5	42						
10,000-49,999	1	1	2	0	0	1	2	7						
50,000-99,999	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	3						
105,632 only	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1						
120,000 only	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1						
260,000 only	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	ī						
otal number of														
fires	11	18	17	13	14	20	19	112						
mount of loss per year*	\$48 ,07	5 \$240,91	8 \$73,632	\$59,967	\$124,587	\$49,356	\$397 , 468							
ote: 25 per 88 per	cent cent	of all fi of all fi	re losses re losses	were for were for	r less th r less th	an \$100. an \$10.00	00.							
Thelc	oss in	only thre	e fires a	nounted	to more t	han \$100,	000.							

Table 4. Amount of fire losses on Kansas school buildings (not including contents).

	:		Buildings		Contents								
Name of school	County		Amount of		Amount of								
		: Value :	Insurance:Loss carried :by fire	Uninsured loss	: Value	:Insurance :carried	:Loss : by fire:	Uninsured Loss					
Blessed Sacrament	: Wyandotte	\$ 20,000:	\$ 15,000:\$ 5 43,200: 4,000		: * 600	5,000 8,000	\$ 1.000						
Roe Institute	:Sedgwick	8,000: 3,000:	5,000: 5 2.000: 3.000	\$ 1.000	: 2,000	0: 500	1.000	\$ 500					
Bethel College Coffin	:Harvey	8,000: 3,000:	3,000: 150 1,000: 1,200	200	: 25	D: 200	: 15: : 300:	" 15 100					
No. 12 No. 21	:Ottawa :Rice	: 14,000: : 35,000:	10,000: 15 25,000: 35,000	10,000	: 3,000	0: 1,000 0: 1,500	: 10: : 3,400:	1,900					
Lincoln Public Centropolis	:Sedgwick :Franklin	: 125,000: : 1,200:	120,000: 3,000 900: 1,200	300	: 300	100	300:	200					
Music School	:Sedgwick	: 30,000:	15,000: 500		: 10,000	D: 5,000							
Totals	:	:\$332,200:	\$240,100:\$48,075	: \$11,500	:\$30,45	0: \$21,300	:\$6, 025:	\$2,715					
Totals for buildi and contents	ngs	\$362,650:	\$261,400:\$54,100	\$14,215	:	:							
					•			a an and a supering the second se					

Table 5. Kansas school losses for 1928.

fotisia for in and also has

	1	:		Build	lin	gs			Contents							
Name of school	County			Amou	nt	of			:	Amount of						
	•	:	:1	nsurance	e:L	OSS	:Unins	sured	:		Insur	ance:	Loss :	Uninsured		
	:	: Val	ue :c	arried	:b	y fire	:loss		: V	Value :	carri	.ed :	by fire:	loss		
	· Shere a sh	:	:	ALL GET BAL	:		:		:	:		:	:			
No. 62	:Douglas	:\$	7,000:\$	3,600	:\$	7,000	:\$ 3,4	100	:\$	887:	\$	400:	\$ 887:	\$ 487		
No. 36	:Osborne	: 5	0,000:	20,000	1.	40,000	: 20,0	000	:	12,000:	7	,500:	8,500:	1,000		
No. 61	:Douglas	:	6,000:	3,600	:	6,000	: 2,4	100	:	600:		400:	600:	200		
	:Jefferson	: -	- :	6,500	:	15	: -		:	:		:	:			
Eagle Township	:Sedgwick	: 3	6,000:	40,000	:	10	: -	•••	:	:		:	4,000:	4,000		
Smallwood	:Stafford	:	1,500:	850	:	1,500	: 6	50	:	150:		300:	:			
Winfield	:Cowley	:	2,000:	2,500	:	150	: -		:	300:		300:	:			
Mill Creek	:Bourbon	: :	2,300:	1,500	:	2,300	: 8	300 :	:	350:	3	,000:	350:			
Oskaloosa	:Jefferson	: .	4,000:	3,600	:	211	: -	- :	:	500:		450:	:			
No. 33	:Cowley	: :	2,000:	1,250	:	2,000	: 7	'50 :	:	300:		250:	200:			
Kansas City	:Wyandotte	: 7	5,000:	40,000	:	15	:		:	3,000:	2	,400:	10:			
Mound Valley High	1:Labette	: 6	0,000:	23,000	:	60,000	: 37,0	00 :	:	15.000:	1	,500:	5,000:	3,500		
Kansas City	:Wyandotte	: 3	5.000:	27,000	:	10			:	1.000:		:	:			
Wichita	:Sedgwick	: 69	6.810:	500.000	: :	105.000	: IV-	-	: 1	25.040:	121	.570:	19.400:	-		
No. 31	:Shawnee	: :	2.500:	1.300	:	2.500	1.2	00 :	:	200:		:	200:	200		
No. 13	:Dickinson:		5.000:	4.000	+	5.000	1.0	00 :		1.000:		500:	1.000:	500		
School of Blind	:Wyandotte:	: 7	5,000:		:	75		75 :		25.000:		:	:			
St. Benedict Col.	:Atchison	: 4	5,000:	36,000	:	8,500	-	- :	:	200:	4	,000:	1,000:			
			100		:				:	:						
Totals	:	:\$1,10	5,110:\$'	714,700	:\$:	240,286	\$67,2	75 :	\$1	85,527:	\$142	,570:	\$41,157:	\$9,887		
Totals for buildi	ngs		:	ar and the first first first first first	:					:		:				
and contents		\$1,290	0,637:\$8	357,270	:\$2	281,443	\$77,1	62 :		:		:				
			:		:			:				:	•			

Table 6. Kansas school losses for 1929.

		Buildings									Contents							
Name of school	: County	:			Amount	t of				:			Ar	1001	at of			1
		:	:	Ins	urance	:Loss	:	Uni	nsure	d:		Ins	urance	. T.	088 :	Uni	nsured	đ
	:	: '	Value :	car	ried	:by f	ire:	los	S	:	Value	car	ried	:b	v fire:	103	S	
	:	:	:				:			:				:	:			
No. 88	:Rice	:\$	9,000:	\$	5,500:	:\$ 9,	000:	\$	3,500	:	\$ 1,300:	: \$	500	:\$	800:	\$	300	
Rossville Grade	:	:	12,000:		9,000:		300:			:	800:		500	:	100:			
No. 2 5	:Washington	:	2,500:		1,400:	: 2,	500:		1,100	:	600:		400	:	600:		200	
Kansas City	:Wyandotte	: 1	100,000:		50,000:		:			:	12,000:	1	0,000	:	5:			
Iona	:Doniphan	:	5,000:		3,500:	: 5,	000:		1,500	:	1,000:		750	:	180:			
No. 10	:McPherson	:	4,000:		1,500:	: 4,	000:	:	2,500	:	1,200:		30	:	1,200:	1	,170	
Shawnee	:Cherokee	:	2,000:		1,200:	2,	000:		800	:	500:			:	:			
No. 10	:Seward	:	6,000:		5,500:		5:			:	600:			:	300:		300	
No. 15	:Cloud	:	2,000:		1,200:	2,1	:000		800	:	500:	:	200	:	25:			
Parsons Grade	:Labette	:]	100,000:	ere . Herior d	10,000:		300:			:	10,000:		5,000	:	150:			
No. 44	:Butler	:	3,000:		2,100:	3,1	:000		900	:	500:		200	:	500:		300	
School of Deaf	:Johnson	:	:		:		:			:	:			:	100:		100	
Beloit High	:Mitchell	: 2	260,000:	16	50,000:	10,0	:000			:	10,000:			:	500:		500	
Trinity Lutheran	Atchison	:	3,000:		1,700:		2:			:	800:		400	:	0:			
Plainville Par.	:Rooks	:	8,000:		4,000:	-	75:			:	:			:	:			
No. 2	:Pottawatomie	:	500:		500:		450:			:	500:		250	:	25:		-	
No. 13	:Doniphan	:	35,000:		8,000:	35,0	:000	27	7,000	:	6,000:		4,000	:	6,000:	2	,000	
	•	:	:		:		:			:	:			:	:			
Totals	:	:\$5	553,000:	\$26	35,100:	\$73,0	632 :	\$38	3,100	:\$	46,300:	\$2	2,230	:\$]	10,485:	\$4	,870	
Totals for build	ings	:	:		:	*	:			:	:			:	:			
and contents		:\$5	599,300:	\$28	37,330:	\$84,1	117:	\$42	2,970	:	:			:	:			and the second second
		:	:		:		:			:	:	and the state of the second		:				

Table 7. Kansas school losses for 1930.

.

		:		Build	ings			Contents								
Name of school	County		5	Amoun	t of				Amount of							
		:	Value :	Insurance carried	:Loss :by fire	Unins loss	sure	1: : \	Value :	Insurance	e:Lo :by	ss : fire:	Uninsured loss			
Gypsum High Abilene Jr. High No. 97 No. 36 No. 37 No. 3 Burr Oak Maccachaque No. 131 Grover Highland Kansas University St. John Military	: Saline Dickinson Shawnee Edwards Bourbon Jewell Jewell Wyandotte Smith Cowley Doniphan Lawrence Saline		36,000: 3,500: 2,000: 4,600: 1,200: 15,000: 10,000: 75,000: 1,500: 50,000: 200,000: 3,000:	<pre>\$ 25,000 1,000 1,500 750 11,500 49,400 700 29,000 1.000</pre>	\$ 7 2,000 4,500 1,200 100 50 10 1,500 50,000 500 100	\$ 1, 3, 21,	000 000 450 50 800 000 500	:* :* ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	3,500 600 500 140 5,500 300 3,000 12,000 .00,000 300	\$ 2,500 300 100 4,000 4,000	:** :: :: :: :: :: :	50: 50: 600: 500: 140: 300: 3,000: 2,000: 500: 10:	\$ 50 300 500 40 300 3,000 8,000 500 10			
Totals	:	:\$	401,800:	\$119,850	: \$59,967:	\$26,	800	: :\$1	.25,840:	\$10,900	: :\$1'	7,150:	\$12,700			
Totals for buildi and contents	ngs	:\$	527,700:	\$130,750	\$77,117	\$39,	500	:	:		:	:				

Table 8. Kansas school losses for 1931.

		:		Buil	ding	<u>g</u> s		Contents							
Name of school	County			Amor	unt c	of			Amount of						
	:	:	Value	Insurance carried	e:Los :by	ss fire	:Uninsured :loss		Value	:Insuranc :carried	e:L :b	oss y fire	:Uninsured		
Pittsburg	: Crawford	:4	50,000	\$ 20,000	:		:	:4	1,000	\$ 408	:\$	10	:		
No. 70	:Cherokee	:	500:):\$	500	: 140	:	2,000	:	:	100	:\$	100	
No. 78	:Linn	:	300:		:	160	: 160	:	100	:	:		:		
Leavenworth Sr. Hig	gh:Leavenwort	h:	120,000:	60,000): 12	20,000	\$60,000	:	12,000	: 5,000	:	8,000	:	3,000	
No. 3	:Jewell	:	2,800:	2,000):	97		:	300	:	:		:		
Ottawa University	:Franklin	:	100,000:		:	100:	: 100	:	5,000	:	:	150	:	150	
No. 24	:Ellsworth	:	20,000:	14,000):	50		:	3,000	: 2,000	:		:		
Shallow Water	:Scott	:	1,500:	1,500):	1,700:		:	400	: 200	:		:		
No. 3	:Rooks	:	:		:	5:	: 5	:		:	:		:		
No. 76	:Republic	:	1,200:	600):	75		:	300	: 200	:		:		
No. 132	:Phillips	:	24.000:	16.500	:	50		:	·	:	:		:		
No. 90	:Phillips	:	400:	200	:	400	200	:	150	: 100	:	100	:		
No. 90	:Phillips		2.000:	1.300):	1.300			700	: 500	:	225	:		
No. 6	:Wyandotte	:	25,000:	13,000	:	150		:	500	: 500	:	-	:		
	:	:	:		:			:		:	:		:		
Totals	:	:\$	347,700:	\$132,700	:\$12	4,587	\$60,605	:\$	25,450	: \$8,908	:\$8	8,585	:\$	3,250	
Totals for building	3	:	. and got dat and got and and got		:		ni on ar an an an an an an an an an ar	:		:	:		:		
and contents		:\$	373,150:	\$141,608	:\$13	3,172:	\$63,855	:		:	:		:		
		:	:		:	ite.		:		:	:		:		

Table 9. Kansas school losses for 1932.

	:		Build	ings		:	Contents							
Name of school	County		Amount	; of				An	our	nt of				
		: Value :	Insurance:I carried :1	Loss : by fire:	Uninsured loss	: Valu	: e :	Insurance carried	:Lo	oss :U y fire:]	Ininsured loss			
	1	: :	:	:		:	:		:	:				
Caney High	:Montgomery	:\$125,000:	\$100,000:\$	1,600:	\$:\$ -	- :	\$:\$:	\$			
Oakridge	:Douglas	: 6,500:	4,500:	6,500:	2,000	: 7	50:	500	:	750:	250			
School of Blind	:Johnson	: 85,000:	:	75:	75	: 7,0	00:		:	:				
Sacred Heart	:Leavenworth	: 25,000:	18,500:	1,200:		: 6	00:		:	:				
Oakridge	:Douglas	: 5,000:	4,500:	5,000:	500	: 5	00:	500	:	500:				
No. 36	:Wyandotte	: 6,000:	4,000:	6,000:	2,000	: 1,5	00:	1,000	:	1,500:	500			
Cheever	:Dickinson	: 2,200:	1,000:	2,200:	1,200	: 4	00:	200	:	400:	200			
No. 91	:Cherokee	: 3,000:	1,700:	3,000:	1,300	: 7	00:	300	:	700:	400			
Brownville	:Thomas	: 14,000:	10,000:	14,000:	4,000	: 5,0	00:	2,500	:	4,750:	2,250			
Seven Day Advent	:Wichita	: 3,400:	3,000:	1:		: 1,0	00:		:	:				
Mueberry High	:Crawford	: :	500:	5:		: -	- :		:	:				
Osage High	:Osage	: 55,000:	50,250:	200:		: 3,0	00:		:	:				
St. Marys College	:Pottawatomie	: 150,000:	116,000:	3,000:		: 50,0	00:	32,000	:	1,500:				
No. 60	:Nemaha	: 3,000:	2,000:	3,000:	1,000	: -	- :		:	:				
No. 34	:Stafford	: 2,000:	1,600:	2,000:	400	: 6	00:	400	:	600:	200			
Garfield	:Pawnee	: 2,000:	1,200:	200:		: 6	00:	600	:	:				
Longfellow	:Montgomery	: :	:	100:		: -	- :		:	:				
Emporia Teachers	:Lyon	: 80,000:	65,000:	40:		: 4,0	00:		:	1,900:	1,900			
No. 3	:Jewell	: 1,200:	600:	35:		: -	- :		:	:				
No. 39	:Smith	: 1,200:	800:	1,200:	400	: 3	00:	200	:	300:	100			
	:	: :	:	:		:	:		:	:	*			
Totals	•	:\$569,500:	\$385,150:\$	\$49,356:	\$12,875	:\$75,9	50:	\$38,200	:\$]	L2,900:	\$5,800			
Totals for buildi	ngs	: :				:	:		:	:				
and contents		:\$645,450:	\$423,350:	\$62,256:	\$18,675	:	:		:	:				
		: :	:	:		:	:		:	:				

Table 10. Kansas school losses for 1933.

Manual and and and		:		Buildir	ngs		 :	Cont	ents	
Name of school	: County	:		Amount	of			Amou	nt of	
	÷	:	Value	:Insurance :carried	:Loss :by fire	:Uninsured :loss	Value	:Insuranc :carried	e:Loss :by fire	Uninsured
Viola No. 54 No. 14 Appanoose High Roosevelt High Central Institute Wyandotte High Garrison Seven Day Advent Garnett Inman High No. 52 Kansas State Col. Byers High No. 19 No. 14 No. 31 Winfield Cherokee Totals	Elk Graham Ness Franklin Lyon Sedgwick Wyandotte Wyandotte Sedgwick Anderson McPherson Pottawatomie Riley Pratt Osage Ness Lyon Cowley Crawford	\$ 	1,400 1,000 100,000 12,000 35,000 250,000 335,900 5,000 4,000 1,500 50,000 1,000 75,000 3,000 5,000 272,000 15,000	<pre>\$ 1,000 1,000 63,000 8,000 325,000 302,310 2,000 500 1,000 2,000 60,000 2,000 63,000 2,200 218,800 10,500</pre>	\$ 5 1,000 500 12,000 1,700 3 260,000 4,500 10 150 40,000 1,000 70,000 600 500 5,000 200 300 \$397,468	\$ 4,000 1,700 4,500 39,950 70,000 2,800 2,800	<pre>\$ 400 200 10,000 3,000 5,000 10,000 25,000 10,000 2,900 8,000 200 10,000 10,000 10,000 1,200 1,200 26,400 1,500 \$223.400</pre>	\$ 400 200 2,000 50 9,900 5 5,000 200 8,000 200 8,000 26,400 500	\$ 0 198 100 3,000 900 9,000 9,000 1,000 100 100 100 100 100 10	* 100 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000 850 9,000 1,000
Totals for buildin and contents	ngs	: :\$1	,480,200	\$1,133,815	\$533,391	\$245,400			: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	

Table 11. Kansas school losses for 1934.

· 84

Table 12. Summary of Kansas school losses for years 1928--1934.

	17	:		Buil	ding	ç s		:		Co	ntents		
Year	buildings	:		Amou	nt c	of				Am	ount of		
	involved	:	Value	:Insurance :carried	:	Loss by fire	:Uninsured	l: : Valu	:In e :ca	surance rried	:Loss :by fire	:U e :1	ninsured oss
1928 1929 1930 1931 1932 1933 1934 Total	11 18 17 13 14 20 19 112	:\$: 1 : 1 : \$4	332,200 105,000 552,000 401,800 347,700 569,500 256,800 ,565,000	\$ 240,10 714,70 265,10 119,85 132,70 385,15 1,080,36 \$2,937,96	0:# 0::: 0::: 0::: 0::: 0::: 0:::	48,075 240,286 73,632 59,967 124,587 49,356 397,468 993,371	\$ 11,50 67,27 38,10 26,80 60,60 12,87 122,95 \$340,10	0:\$ 30,4 5:185,5 0:46,3 0:125,8 5:25,4 5:75,9 0:223,4 5:\$712,9	50: \$ 27: 00: 40: 50: 50: 50: 17: \$	21,300 142,570 22,230 10,900 8,908 38,200 53,455 297,563	: \$ 6,0 41,1 10,4 17,1 8,5 12,9 135,9 : \$232,2	25:\$ 57: 85: 50: 85: 00: 23: 25:\$	2,715 9,887 4,870 12,700 3,250 5,800 122,450 161,672
Total build conte Note:	ls for lings and ents Value o Value o	:\$5 : f b f c	,277,917 uildings ontents	: \$3,235,52 : covered b covered by	3:\$] y ir ins	1,225,596	\$501,77	7		. 64.36 . 41.59	per cen	: nt nt	
	Loss by Loss by Loss by	fi fi fi	re of bu re of co re of co	ildings co ntents cov ildings an	nts vere ered d co	ed by insu by insu ontents of	surance arance sovered by	insuran		. 65.67 . 30.38 . 59.00	per cen per cen per cen	nt nt nt	

The fire losses per capita in the United States and in foreign countries reveal a very important need for education in a fire prevention program that will relieve this country of its enormous fire losses. These are ten times as great as those of all Europe and four times as great as the losses of any other single country. About 60 to 85 per cent of all loss is preventable (8). The fire loss per capita for 1928 for the various countries was as follows (8):

United States	\$3.93
Great Britian	.90
France	.49
Germany	.28
Italy	.25
Switzerland	.15
Holland	.11

Fire losses fluctuate with the economic condition of all countries. In periods of depression there are more losses (8).

When the fire loss of the United States is so much greater than that of other countries it is evident that a real need for fire prevention exists. Fire prevention may be produced by these means:

1. By systematic training of fire prevention in private and public schools.

2. By the work of the State Fire Marshall.

3. By enforcing a revision of building.

4. By modern fire departments.

5. By the compulsory requirement of automatic sprinklers.

6. By fixing a personal liability for any damage.

7. By careful and thoughtful men, women, and children.

The causes of loss by school fires are mainly due to faulty construction. The accumulation of rubbish and inflammable material also increases the fire hazards. The proportion of annual fire losses attributable to incendiarism has been estimated to average from 12 to 35 per cent. Deliberate destruction of insured property is a well known fact (8).

School property is free from moral hazards which are constantly a factor among private owned properties.

STATUS OF FIRE INSURANCE OF KANSAS SCHOOL PROPERTY

The property in which the citizens of Kansas have an invested interest is shown in Table 13. The data in the table were obtained from the state department of public instruction. They show a picture of the types of schools and the distribution of the value of school property in the State of Kansas.

While this study is concerned in general with the proper and adequate insurance of all the school property of the state it pertains particularly to the experience of boards

Table 13. Value of school property in Kansas*.

Type of school	:Number of: Estimated :Average :buildings: value :value
One-teacher Two-teacher elementary Two-teacher or more (ele- mentary and high school) Rural high Community high Cities of first class Cities of second class	7312 \$ 3,671,500:\$ 502 755 11,084,447:14,681 459 14,864,137:32,208 362 12,567,529:34,717 40 2,428,183:60,704 200 27,754,296:138,771 322 23,367,695:72,570
Totals	9460 :\$105,737,787:

*Report for 1933, State Department of Public Instruction.

of education of first and second class cities during the period 1925-1935. The basic data were obtained from questionnaire replies from school authorities in 54 of the first and second class cities and from a report of the National Board of Fire Underwriters.

A questionnaire was sent to the superintendents of schools of the 88 first and second class cities in the state. Replies were received from 11 first class cities and 43 second class cities. Information was not submitted, however, by all the 54 cities for the full ten-year period. A copy of the questionnaire is shown on page 5.

The data from the questionnaire replies have been tabulated in Table 14. Fire insurance premiums amounting to \$875,176.48 were paid by these 54 cities and they re-

Table 14. Fire insurance data for school property of first and second class cities.

	:Period	1:		:		;	Par. 677-6827-6	:	:Da	te of	:Tern	n :	per para di se di sentenci della di se Canada na di sentenci di se di se	Rates		· 2.		an a
	:in	:	Premiums	:	Indemnity	:Coin	-	:One	:1a	st ap-	:in	:		Tor-		: 1	Method	of
Cities	:years	:	paid	:	received	:sura	nce	:form:	:pr	aisal	:year	28:	Fire :	nado	Total	:	payme	nt
						F	irst	t clas	88	cities	3		8	2 . A.				
Atchison	: 10	:4	25,016.7	5:	\$ 3,217.65	: уе	S :	: no	:	1932	: 5	:	\$:	\$	\$:One	-fifth	yearly
Coffeyville	: 10	:	27,809.1	5:	30.00	: уе:	S	: yes:	:	1933	: 3	:	.640:	.210	.850	:ALL	at on	Ce Toonlar
Hutchinson	. 9		26,189.3	0.	3,118,25	· ye	a i	ves	•	1926	: 5	•	1.060:	.276	1.336	: One	-fifth	vearly
Kansas City	: 10	:	135.000.0	0:	275.709.46	: ye	S	: no	:	1920	: 3	:	1.0001		1.000	: One	-fifth	yearly
Leavenworth	: 10	:	20,613.8	1:	57,500.00	: ye	8	no :	:	1932	: 3	:	:		1.080	:		
Parsons	: 10	:	38,254.1	5:	1,188.33	: ye	S :	: yes:	:	1931	: 5	:	.976:	.320	1.296	:One	-fourt	h yearly
Pittsburg	: 10	:	24,934.1	4:	504.08	: ye:	S	: yes:	:	1932	: 5	:	.256:	.091	.347	:One	-fifth	yearly
Salina	: 10	:	18,768.5	3:	5 000 00	: ye	S	yes:	:	1932	: 5	:	.540:	.188	.728	: One	-thira	yearly
Topeka	: 10	:	36 251 4	6.	3,312,89	· ye	8	· Ves	•	1934	. 5	•	.191:	.042	.233	: One	-fifth	vearly
WIGHIGA	. 10	:	00,001.1	:	0,012.00	: 30			:		:	:	:			:		55
Totals		:4	493,488.6	0:	\$349,580.66	:												
Median	:	::	27,809.1	5:	3,312.89	: Lo	88 1	ratio	=	70.8 I	per ce	ent				. × 1		
	:	:	Sec.	:		:			:		:	:				:		
						Se	cond	i cras	88	CILLES	s 		# 004	# 010			et ett	
Abilene	: 10	:4	8,038.3	3:	\$ O	: ye	S	: yes:	:	1930	: 5	:	\$.884:	\$.312	\$1.169	: Une	-Illtn	yearly
Anthony	: 5	:	2,968.0	2:	9 179 00	: ye	S	NO:	:	1930	: 5		.040;		.306	· One	-fourt	h vearly
Arkansas City	: 10	:	4 093 6	:0:	300.00	· 70	5	ves	•	1900	: 5	:	.518:	.180	.698	: One	-fifth	vearly
Baloit	• 1	:	1,903.8	19:	0	: ve	S	ves:	:	1930	: 5	:	.752:	.540	1.292	:		
Blue Rapids	: 10	:	2.883.6	58:	õ	: ye	S	: no	:		: 3	:	1.260:	.368	1.628	:One	-fifth	yearly
Burlington	: 5	:	9,367.9	0:	0	: ye	S	: yes	:	1932	: 5	:	2.248:	1.109	3.357	:One	-fifth	yearly
Chanute	: 10	:	24,552.1	.6:	984.96	: ye	8	: yes	:	1931	: 3	:	:		.586	:One	-third	yearly
Concordia	: 9	:	9,378.6	58:	410.50	: ye	S	: yes	:	1926	: 3	:	.665:	.173	.838	:One	-third	yearly
Council Grove	: 4	:	1,783.0	:00	150 00	: уе	S	: no	:	1932	: 5	:	1.260:	.720	.198	: One	-Illtn	yearly
Dodge City	: 6	:	7,409.8	9:	150.00	ye	8	: no	:	1030	: 0	:				· One	-111 Un	vearly
EL DOPAGO	: 10	:	12,154	50 •	0	· ye	3	ves	•	1931	: 3	:	.370:	.110	.480	: One	-third	vearly
Eureka	: 7	:	10.011.5	56:	ŏ	: ye	S	: yes	:	1933	: 3	:	1.055:	.247	1.302	:One	-third	yearly
Florence	: 10	:	6,631.8	35:	0	: ye	S	: no	:	1933	: 3	:	1.100:	.297	: 1.397	:		
Girard	: 10	:	3,568.9	7:	6.88	: no		: no	:		: 5	:	.240:	.072	.312	:One	-fifth	yearly
Great Bend	: 9	:	12,869.5	55:	0	: уе	S	: yes	:	1933	: 5	:	.258:	.068	.344	:One	-fifth	yearly
Hays	: 4	:	1,138.7	5:	0	: уе	S	: yes	:	1932	: 5	:	:		1.064	: One	-Tirth	yearly
Harper	: 10	:	4,250.0	0:	0	: ye	S	: no	:	1927	: 5	:	405.	100	504	: One	-111UD	yearly
Herington	: 10	:	7 537 0	20.	0	· ye	8	· yes		1933	. 3	•	.487.	.092	.579	· One	-third	vearly
Holton	. 10	•	3,681,8	34 :	. 0	· ye	S	· yes	:	1931	: 5	:	1.288	.292	1.580	:One	-fifth	vearly
Horton	: 10	-	8.000.0	00:	Ő	: no		: no	:		: 1	:	.353:	.120	.473	:A11	at on	ce
Iola	: 10	:	21,291.0)8:	8,462.48	: ye	S	: yes	:	1932	: 5	:	.255:	.085	340	:		
Junction City	: 10	:	12,361.7	18:	0	: уе	S	: yes	:	1933	: 5	: :	:			:One	-fifth	yearly
Kingman	: 10	:	9,618.2	26:	0	: уе	S	: yes	:	1933	: 3	:	.410:	.098	. 508	:		
Kinsley	: 9	:	5,164.1	.3:	0	: ye	S	: no	:	1933	: 5	:	1 650	1 000	7 670	: One	-rirth	yearly
La narpe	. 10	:	0 707 7	13.	1 323 11	· ye	S	· yes	:	1920	: 3	:	400	.180	.580	·	at on	Ce
Liberal	. 9	•	7,612.1	3:	900.00	· ye	S	: no	:		: 3	:		.100		:One	-third	vearly
Lindsborg	: 10	:	3.252.9	97:	120.19	: ye	S	: yes	:	1933	: 5	:	1.608:	.528	2.136	:One	-fifth	yearly
Manhattan	: 10	:	17,883.9	99:	0	: ye	S	: yes	:	1931	: 5	:	.264:	.094	.358	:One	-fifth	yearly
Marion	: 10	:	3,133.4	16:	0	: уе	S	: no	:	never	: 5	:	.854:	.484	: 1.338	:		
Marysville	: 10	:	4,085.0	:00	0	: уе	S	: yes	:	1931	: 5	:			: 1.308	:A11	at on	ce
McPherson	: 9	:	7,274.6	51:	54.52	: no		: yes	:	never	: 3	- :			3.980	:One	-third	yearly
Minneapolis	: 10	:	3,185.6	00:	100.00	ye	S	: no	:	1039	: 100		860			: • 0 m o	-thind	voorly
Mulberry	. 10	:	12,174.1	19.	0.00	· Ve	g	· Ves	•	1930	. 5	•	.964	.292	1.256	: One	-fifth	vearly
Ottawa	: 10	:	12.429.2	29:	ŏ	: ve	S	: yes	:	1933	: 5		.896:	.260	1.156	:One	-fifth	yearly
Pratt	: 8	:	5,597.8	34:	14.13	: ye	S	: no	:		: 3	:	.359:	.108	. 467	:One	-third	yearly
Sterling	: 7	:	4,399.0)8:	0	: уе	S	: no	:	never	: 5	:	.490:	.212	.702	:One	-half	yearly
Wellington	: 10	:	18,268.9	99:	344.23	: ye	S	: no	:	1934	: 5	:				:One	-fifth	yearly
Winfield	: 9	:	28,181.2	22:	4,440.06	: ye	S	: yes	:	1933	: 5	:	1.104:	.304	1.408	ALL	at on	ce
Totele	•		\$381 697 9	38.	\$ 20 588 06			•	•		•							
Medien			7.409.8	39.		. T.o	88	ratio	=	5.39	ner c	ant						
moutan					****													
First and seco	nd	:		:		:												
class cities	Totals	:	\$875,176.4	48:	\$370,168.72	:												
	Median	:	9,000.0	00:	850.00): Lo	88 :	ratio	=	42.0]	per c	ent	;					
		:				<u></u>									Garanta codis of two discover	and the second second		
													•					

ceived in return \$370,168.72 for fire losses. The total losses paid constituted 42 per cent of the total premium payments. The first class cities show a loss ratio of 70.8 per cent. They paid \$493,488.60 in premiums and received in return \$349,580.66.

The second class cities showed a loss ratio of only 5.39 per cent, having paid premiums in the amount of \$381,687.88 and having received in return to cover losses the amount of only \$20,588.06.

It is to be observed that during the period covered by this survey the largest school fire in the history of Kansas occurred. This was the fire which destroyed the Wyandotte high school building in Kansas City, Kansas. The loss sustained in this one fire was almost three times the amount of fire loss of any other school property in the state. This one loss alone is equal to 51 per cent of the fire loss on school property for 1934. However, Kansas City alone paid \$135,000 in the past 10 years, which is 49 per cent of the amount of loss sustained in the Wyandotte fire.

The data of the questionnaire show not only what usually occurs in the average year, but they show what appears to be true when record breaking losses are involved. These data show that for premiums paid into fire insurance companies, the companies returned 42 cents and retained 58 cents out of each dollar paid for the protection from fire

of the schools included in this study for the period 1925-1934 while for the insurance of all property in Kansas, the companies retained only 45.8 cents. In other words the companies retained 26.6 per cent more of the premiums paid for the protection of schools than for the protection of all property in Kansas.

The year 1934 can be regarded as a catastrophic one because the losses shown in Table 3 for the year are 32 per cent greater than for any other year of school property losses since 1913, which is the earliest date for which information is available. Therefore, the percentages found in Table 15 may be considered as showing the minimum amount retained by the fire insurance companies. In other words the companies have been keeping a much greater percentage of each premium dollar paid for insuring school property than for insuring all property.

In Table 15 is shown what disposition was made of the premium dollar paid to stock companies during the years 1925 to 1935. In the United States on 99.91 per cent of all property insured 44.1 per cent of the premium paid for fire insurance was returned to the insured in payment for fire losses. This left 55.9 per cent for the company to pay expenses and with which to show a profit. The table also shows that the schools in the United States received for losses 28.7 per cent of each dollar paid as premiums as

Fire Insurance Business	For years	:Percentage :of premiums :returned to :insured	:Percentage :of premiums :retained by :companies
For all property in			
United States (9)	1933	44.10	55.90
For school property in	1926-		
United States (5)	1932	28.70	71.30
For all property in	1926-		
Kansas (3)	1934	54.18	45.82
For schools and public	1926-		
institutions in Kansas (3)	1934	39.00	61.00
For school property in	1925-		
54 cities of Kansas	1934	42.00	58.00
(questionnaire)			
For first class cities	1925-		
of Kansas (questionnaire)	1934	70.80	29.20
For 43 second class cities	1925-		
in Kansas (questionnaire)	1934	5.39	94.61

Table 15. Distribution of the premium dollar by stock companies.

compared with 71.3 per cent retained by the companies. This means that schools of the United States are paying 53.6 per cent more for their protection than are all types of property.

The second source of information valuable for this study is a report by the National Board of Fire Underwriters (3) showing the experience of stock companies by classes for Kansas. This includes educational institutions, colleges, schools, convents, and academies. The property to which the data in Table 16 pertains is classified in groups and the loss ratio is shown for each class. The total pre-

Year	Premiums	Losses	Ratio
40.00 A	Brick	protected	
1926	\$ 189,897	\$ 56,696	
1927	211,627	8,846	
1928	186,604	9.622	
1929	209,867	179,205	
1930	150,501	41,318	
1031	164 649	30,029	
1020	101,010	69 566	
1996	1 004 040	700 000	70 97
Total	1,284,242	288,282	30.23
	Frame	protected	
1926	22,985	2,836	
1927	19.999	1.271	
1928	22,913	1.338	
1929	18,283	3,048	
1030	6 791	1 304	
1900	77 475	1,004	
1991	13,435	1,050	
1925	15,216	245	0.00
Total	119,552	11,740	9.82
ing Alana	Brick and fram	e unprotecto	ed
1926	132,141	116,639	
1927	116,867	45,809	
1928	104.114	51.329	
1929	111.654	43,938	
1 930	79.048	30,122	
1031	84 752	11,389	
1039	99 1 57	36 699	
Tan	710 722	735 040	17 95
TOTAL	110,100	000,040	41.00
Fire	proof prote	cted and unpro-	tected
1926	27,713	11	
1927	27,645	167	
1928	14,912	706	
1929	28,078	200	
1930	21.932	519	
1931	24.550	916	
1932	20.344	318	
Totol	165 174	2.837	1.72
TOCAL	1009111	~;007	- • <i>(b</i>
ionel in	stitutions, co	lleges, school	s. convent

Table 16. Underwriting experiences by classes for Kansas schools and public buildings*

miums received by the companies was \$2,818,909 and the losses paid amounted to \$1,101,290 for the years 1926 to 1933 inclusive. The loss ratio for the entire group was 39 per cent. In other words this class of property was paying \$1.00 for each 39 cents needed to pay fire losses.

The classes vary in their ratio in Table 16 from 1.72 per cent to 47.25 per cent. This means that for fire resistive school buildings, districts are receiving only \$1.72 by the way of losses for each \$100 that they pay in premiums. It is generally accepted by insurance authorities that each class of property insured should carry its own losses and expenses over a period of years (8). But here we have our best insurance risks paying 27 times as much for their insurance as is paid for the brick and frame buildings in unprotected towns. Furthermore, according to these data it is shown that some classes of school property are 60 times better risks than dwellings.

The data compiled in Table 14 indicate that more schools were taking advantage of lower rates by means of coinsurance. Out of 54 districts 51 used coinsurance rates. A majority placed their insurance for the 5-year term and took advantage of the long term rate, 20 operated on a three year rate, while 2 continued to use the annual rate.

The preferred plan for paying premiums seems to be to pay an equal amount each year thus equalizing the appropria-

tions made for insurance in the budget. However, 9 continued to pay the full premium at one payment, 11 paid one-third yearly, 2 paid one-fourth yearly, and 28 paid one-fifth yearly.

Table 17 was prepared from Tables 5 to 11 to show the percentage of value covered by insurance for the losses occurring from 1928 to 1934, inclusive. These data show that a loss of \$188,760 occurred to school districts because no insurance was carried. This was divided into losses on buildings which was \$77,160 and losses on contents for the amount of \$111,600.

Eighty per cent of fire losses occurred in school districts where the property was insured for less than 80 per cent of its value while 50 per cent of the fire losses occurred in property that was insured for less than 62 per cent of its value. On the other hand 6.6 per cent of the fire losses occurred in school property where the coverage was 100 per cent or over. In one case the building was insured for 130 per cent of its value while no insurance was carried on its contents. A fire occurred which caused damage to the building amounting to \$3 and a loss to the contents amounting to \$9,000. This meant a \$9,000 loss when an excessive amount of insurance was carried on the building.

	:	: Loss	of property	by f	: Loss sustained by the insured				
			Amount o	of			Amount of		
Percentage	:	:	:	:		:	•	:	
of	: Fre-	: Loss on	: Loss on	:		: Loss on	: Loss on	:	
coverage	: quency	: buildings	: contents	:	Total	: buildings	: contents	: Total	
130	1	\$ 3	\$ 9,000	\$	9,003	\$: \$ 9,000	\$ 9,000	
125	1	150			150				
111	1	10	4,000		4,010		4,000	4,000	
100	4	4,150	323		4,473				
96	1	3,000			3,000				
91	3	260,205	10,200		270,405		300	300	
90	2	5,211	500		5,711	500		500	
88	1	1			1				
86	1	40	1,900		1,940		1,900	1,900	
80	6	17,900	2,825		20,725	1,400	700	2,100	
78	1	10			10				
77	2	3,100	1,500		4,600				
75	3	1,505	400		1,905	300	200	500	
74	1 .	1,200			1,200				
72	2	105,500	19,510		125,010	140	100	240	
71	4	49,112	8,160		57,272	14,000	3,150	17,150	
70	6	8,362	830		9,192	2,400	300	2,700	
69	1	6,500	750		7,250	2,000	250	2,250	
68	1	50			50				
67	2	4,200	1,300		5,500	400	100	500	
66	5	21,010	4,500		25,510	7,000	1,500	8,500	
65	2	3,600	575		4,075	800		800	
63	3	2,200	340		2,540	450	240	690	
62	2	2,005	200		2,205	750		750	
61	2	19,000	1,300		20,300	3,500		3,500	
60	4	10,200	625		10,825	4,000	200	4,200	
58	1	50,000	12,000		62,000	21,000	8,000	29,000	
57	2	1,502			1,502	650		650	
56	1	2,500	600		3,100	1,100	200	1,300	
54	1	150			150				
53	2	3,015	710		3,725	1,300	400	1,700	
52	1	2,500	200		2,700	1,200	200	1,400	
51	2	11,000	1,887		12,887	3,400	487	3,887	
50	9	123,095	9,705		132,800	61,200	4,300	65,500	
47	1	1,500	300		1,800	800	300	1,100	
45	1	2,200	400		2,600	1,200	200	1,400	
44	1	5,000	1,200		6,200	2,800	400	3,200	
40	2	40,000	8,500		48,500	20,000	1,000	21,000	
38	1 .	60,000	5,000		65,000	37,000	3,500	40,500	
37	2	4,150	1,215		5,365	2,500	1,190	3,690	
33	4	5.950	810		6,760	3,200	600	3,800	
23	ī	35.000	6.000		41.000	27.000		27,000	
10	ī	300	150		450				
.1	ī	40.000	100		40.100	39,900		39,900	
ō	11	77,160	111,600		188,760	77,160	111,600	188,760	
Totals	106	\$993,146	\$227,315	\$	1,220,461	\$339,050	\$154,317	\$493,367	

Table 17. Percentage of coverage and loss sustained by insurer or insured.

Note: 6 reports show no value. This table shows the percentage of coverage, the amount carried by the insured and the amount of loss paid by insurance companies for buildings and contents.

.

The total loss of \$1,220,461 on all property is shown to consist of \$993,146 on the buildings and \$227,315 on the contents. Of this total amount \$493,367 was sustained by the school districts. The school districts sustained 35 per cent of the loss of buildings and 70 per cent of the loss of the contents.

Table 18 has been set up from Tables 5 to 11 to show the saving which would have been possible had the property been properly insured. This is shown for a coverage of 80 and of 90 per cent since these are the usual amounts recommended by authorities to be carried. If the property had been insured for 80 per cent, a saving of \$236,705 would have been possible, while if 90 per cent coverage had been practiced, a saving of \$290,135 would have resulted.

Table 18. Saving that would have been possible by proper coverage.

Year	::	If insurance had been for 80 per cent of value	: If insurance : had been for : 90 per cent of value
1928		\$ 3,660	\$ 7,580
1929		49,940	58,470
1930		20,600	31,750
1931		15,240	20,970
1932		36,420	48,530
1933		6,795	8,585
1934		104,050	114,250
Total		\$236,705	\$290 , 135
Note:	Dat	a taken from Tables 5	to 11.

Kansas school and public institutions paid out \$2,818,909 in premiums and received back \$1,101,290 to cover insured fire losses during the period 1926 to 1934 (Table 19). In order to show what a state plan would do in Kansas a comparison has been made of the results of the Kansas methods with those of the South Carolina state plan. If in 1926 the Kansas school property had been placed under a similar state plan and the same class of property paying the same amount in premiums that actually was paid with the same cost for fire loss plus the percentage of operating expenses needed in South Carolina, the state of Kansas might well today have a reserve fund of about \$2,000,000, which is twice that maintained in South Carolina.

Table 19. Recapitulation of underwriting experience in Kansas, for educational institutions, colleges, schools, convents, academies.

	Premiums	:	Losses	:		n din man (r ik mir min min (r ik
Year :	received	:	paid	:	Ratio	
1926	\$ 372,736		\$ 176,182		49	
1927	376,138		56,093		15	
1928	328,543		62,996		20	
1929	367,882		226,391		62	
1930	258,202		73,263		28	
1931	287,386		44,032		15	
1932	288,386		99,751		32	
1933	266,237		37,298		14	
*1934	272,974		325,284		119	
Total or average	\$2,818,909		\$1,101,290		39	

*The figures for 1934 have been changed to include the following: public buildings, hospitals, sanitariums, asylums, jails, public homes, museums of art, educational institutions, convents, and academies.

The procedure used to arrive at this conclusion is as follows: The amount of fire loss was \$1,101,290 for the nine years. This was 96 per cent of what South Carolina would need to carry on its own plan under our conditions. Therefore \$1,147,177 would have paid for all the losses by fire and the operating expenses incurred in handling the fire insurance business. The balance left after paying losses and expenses out of the net premium income of \$2,818,909 would be \$1,671,722. This amount with a reasonable rate of interest over the period of nine years would show a total of about \$2,000,000 accumulated as savings from the amount that was paid to stock companies.

The interest alone at 4 per cent on the surplus would pay for all loss and expenses on five years of the past nine years without any charge made to the property owners.

The property included in Table 13 is very similar to that carried in other state plans.

SUMMARY

Education is generally thought to be a function of the state, therefore, the state should be concerned with the problem of fire insurance for public school property. The following pertinent facts have been shown in this study:

1. Kansas school properties of 54 first and second class cities, for the years 1925 to 1934, have been paying

\$1.00 for fire insurance protection for each 42 cents returned in settlement of fire losses. In the first class cities for each \$1.00 paid in as premiums there was a return of 70 cents to cover fire losses. In 43 second class cities the insurance companies returned only 5 1/3 cents for each one dollar they received as premiums.

2. The National Board of Fire Underwriter's reports show, for the years 1926--1934 inclusive, that schools and public buildings of Kansas paid premiums amounting to \$2,818,909 and received only \$1,101,290 in return for payments of fire losses. This represents a loss ratio of 39 per cent.

3. A comparison of loss ratios to the premiums paid shows:

For all classes of property in the United States for 193344.10 per cent For school property of 380 cities in the United States (for years 1926-1932)28.70 per cent For all property in the state of Kansas for years 1926--193454.10 per cent For school property of 54 cities of Kansas for years 1925--193442.00 per cent For school property of all first class cities of Kansas (years 1925--1934) ...70.80 per cent For school property of 43 second class cities in Kansas (years 1925--1934) ... 5.39 per cent For school property and public institutions of Kansas (years 1926--1934) ... 39.00 per cent

4. Fire losses in Kansas for the years 1913 to 1934, inclusive, amounts to an average of \$156,743 per year. The losses for the years 1928 to 1934, inclusive, show 59 per cent of the annual loss was covered by insurance.

5. State insurance has long ago passed the experimental stage. The law of averages is unhampered and the risks are widely distributed. The experience gives protection and shows a very material saving over the methods used in Kansas. South Carolina, Wisconsin, and North Dakota are successfully carrying their insurance under the state self insurance plan.

6. Kansas today could very well have a reserve of \$2,000,000 if the schools and public property had adopted a state self insurance plan in 1926 and had paid the same premiums which they have paid to the regular insurance companies during this same period.

7. There are at least 49 city school districts in the United States and Canada successfully carrying their own insurance. If 49 cities can save money by carrying self insurance, certainly the state, as a larger administrative unit, should be able to save even more through a plan of state insurance.

8. Operating expenses incurred by state insurance organizations are only 4 cents of each premium dollar as compared with 52.1 (9) cents in the case of stock companies.

9. Kansas risks are especially favorable for the state insurance plan. Although cities in general are too small to handle their own insurance.

10. The demand for lower fire insurance rates on public school property is justifiable in the light of the evidence shown in this study.

11. School property represents better risks and is much more favorable to fire insurance companies than are all other classes of property.

12. School property in Kansas is insured from 0 per cent to 130 per cent of its value.

13. If school properties had been insured for the years 1928 to 1934 (inclusive) up to 80 per cent of their value a saving of \$236,705 would have resulted, while if 90 per cent coverage had been written a saving of \$290,135 would have resulted.

14. The best methods of insuring school property in Kansas are frequently not practiced.

15. Some school districts have actually made large reductions in fire insurance costs.

16. There is no sound reason why school insurance should not be carried with select mutual companies.

17. Plans and specifications for new school buildings should be submitted to the rating bureau so that any fire hazards might be eliminated before construction thereby
reducing the insurance rate to the minimum.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Careful study of the operation of the state insurance systems already in existence and the possibility of applying the general principles underlying them to conditions in Kansas would seem to justify, that school authorities demand marked reductions in rates from the commercial companies now insuring school property, or the adoption of the state self insurance plan for Kansas.

Under the present plan of insuring with commercial companies insurance costs in Kansas could be reduced materially by school districts making use of these methods:

- By writing their insurance with A+, non-assessment mutual insurance companies.
- 2. By improving the conditions that account for the present penalties, defects in construction, occupancy, exposure, and faults of management thus reducing all fire hazards to the minimum.
- By installing certain safety devices such as automatic sprinklers.
- 4. By using coinsurance.
- 5. By proper periodic appraisal of school property to avoid excessive insurance premiums because of overinsuring.

- 6. By writing all insurance in longer term (5-year) policies, which costs but four times the annual rate.
- 7. By setting up and pursuing continually a fire prevention program.
- 8. By insuring their property for at least 80 per cent of its value.
- 9. By eliminating unnecessary charges in the rates through a careful analysis of the schedule rating sheet furnished by the state rating bureau and remedying conditions which this reveals as the cause of charges.

The expiration dates of insurance policies should be arranged so that approximately the same amount of insurance expires each year, thus equalizing the insurance appropriations.

Adequate insurance records should be kept and safely filed in the school safe or a safety deposit box in a bank.

The annual report from each school district made to the state department of public instruction should be improved in such a way as to secure the following facts concerning school fire insurance. The following seems necessary to secure the important data:

The value of the buildings Contents The amount of loss suffered through fire windstorm The total amount of insurance carried

Amount of:Rate: If cKind of:insurance::Coin-:premiums:suraInsurance:carried:Flat:surance:1935-36:per1. 5-year term:::::2. 4-year term:::::3. 3-year term:::::4. 2-year term:::::	
Kind of:insurance::Coin-:paid: forInsurance:carried:Flat:surance:1935-36:per1. 5-year term:::::2. 4-year term:::::3. 3-year term:::::4. 2-year term:::::	coin-
1. 5-year term: : : : 2. 4-year term: : : : 3. 3-year term: : : : 4. 2-year term: : : :	what cent?
2. 4-year term: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	
3. 3-year term: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	
4. 2-year term: : : : : :	
	n Garager and an globard
5. 1-year term: : : : : :	n der verste state der state son

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The writer wishes to express his thanks to Dr. W. E. Sheffer for suggesting this problem and for his aid throughout the study, and to Dr. C. V. Williams and Professor H. M. Stewart for valuable counsel.

LITERATURE CITED

- Fire Division Annual Reports. Topeka, Kansas. Dept. of Inspections and Registration, State of Kansas, 1933 to 1934, inclusive.
- (2) Linn, Henry H. Practical school economies. New York. Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 461 p. 1934.
- (3) Underwriting experience by class, Kansas, National Board of Fire Underwriter's reports, 9 p. 1926 to 1934, inclusive (typewritten).
- (4) Roberts, H. C., and Ludlam, J. G.
 (Findings and Report). Committee on business research, Natl. Assoc. Public School Business Officials, 39 p.
- (5) Roberts, H. C., Ludlam, J. G., and Baumgartner, J. E. Insurance practices and experience of city school districts Trenton, New Jersey. Natl. Assoc. Public School Business Officials Bul. 2, 229 p. 1932.
- (6) Smith, Harvey A.
 Economy in public school fire insurance. New York. Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 113 p. 1930.
- (7) State Fire Marshall Reports. Topeka, Kansas, Dept. State Fire Marshal. 1913 to 1932, inclusive.
- Wolfe, F. E.
 Principles of property insurance. New York.
 Thomas Y. Crowell Co., 393 p. 1930.
- (9) Statistical Abstract of the United States. U. S. Dept. of Commerce, Washington, D. C., 791 p. 1934.